
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

      BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

March 7, 2024 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

OPEN SESSION: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board on matters not on the

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.

2. CONSENT CALENDAR:

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board.

A. Approve the Board Minutes for February 15, 2024

B. Approve the Warrant List for March 7, 2024

C. Approve Robards attending the NBWA Conference April 19 in Sonoma

D. Approve Yezman attending the NBWA Conference April 19 in Sonoma

E. Approve Call for Bids Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade Project

F. Approve Resolution 2024-2323 GM Contract Amendment and Salary Pay Scale

G. Approve Biosolids Land Application Services Project Notice of Completion and Resolution

2024-2324 

H. Approve July 4th Board Meeting Cancellation 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through F. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through H. 

4:05 PM 

4:10 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:00 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


March 7, 2024 Page 2 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

3. AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR DESIGN OF LAB, BOARDROOM AND EDUCATION CENTER

Board to review and approve the Award of Contract for the Design of the Lab, Boardroom and Education
Center.

4. INFORMATION ITEMS:

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS:

1. Solar Project Presentation

2. General Manager’s Report – verbal

5. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:

1. CLARK
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee,
CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports

2. FORD
a. NBWRA,  Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee,  Flood Zone 6,

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet Management  Ad Hoc Committee,
San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, CASA TRIG Committee,
Other Reports

3. MURRAY
a. Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,

Development Ad Hoc Committee,   San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

4. ROBARDS
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee,
FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

5. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,   Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE,

Marin Special Districts,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

6. BOARD REQUESTS:
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

5:50 PM 

5:40 PM 

5:00 PM 

4:20 PM 

2



March 7, 2024 Page 3 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

7. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

      CLOSED SESSION: 

8. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure
to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Government Code § 54956.9: One case. 

       OPEN SESSION: 

9. ADJOURNMENT

FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: MARCH 21 AND APRIL 4, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before March 4, 2024 4:00 pm I posted the Agenda for the Board 
Meeting of said Board to be held  on March 7, 2024, at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas Valley Road, 
Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: February 29, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study sessions. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 

Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting.

5:55 PM 

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

6:15  PM 

6:00 PM 

3



 

 
 

 

3/7/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



 

 

 

 Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: Call for Bids for Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade Project 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes           No     (See attached) Not Applicable        X     . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve Call for Bids for Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade Project. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Aqua Engineering has completed the design of the Treatment Plant Standby Generator 
Upgrade Project. The project is ready for bid advertisement with bid opening scheduled for April 
30, 2024. The Engineer’s estimate of construction is $1M. Funding will be reallocated from the 
TWAS Enclosure/Sludge Basin & Reception Pad Project, currently listed in the FY 2023/24 CIP 
budget, which District staff deferred to address other projects with higher priority. 
 
The project provides for the installation of new cables in existing spare conduits to connect 
existing electrical panels and gear in the Equipment Building to the new service and standby 
generator installed with the new Electrical Building. This will allow for a single service meter to 
serve the treatment plant as well as the operations of a single standby generator. The existing 
standby generator near the Equipment Building will be decommissioned and disposed offsite 
once the new connection is made. District staff delayed this portion of work to minimize 
interruptions of treatment processes during construction of the Secondary Treatment Plant 
Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion Project. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
To Be Determined 

 

Item Number______2E____________ 

GM Review   __CP________________ 

 

17

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Scans\2F Resolution No 2024-2323 GM Contract Amendment.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  

 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: Resolution Approving Salary Pay Schedule, Pursuant to the California Code of 
Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System Regulations Section 
570.5. 

Item Type:   Consent   X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests that the Board approve the attached Salary Pay Schedule and associated 
Resolution 2024-2323. 
 
BACKGROUND 
When the District adds or modifies compensable employee wages, a new Salary Pay Schedule 
must be adopted to meet California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement 
System Regulations Section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5). 
 
The Salary Pay Schedule has been updated to reflect the base salary increase of the General 
Manager position by five percent with an effective date for this position of August 7, 2023. No 
other changes to the Salary Pay Schedule have been made. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On February 15, 2024, the Board approved a five percent increase to the General Manager’s 
base salary and authorized an amendment to the Employment Agreement Between Las 
Gallinas Valley Sanitary District And Curtis D. Paxton. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. Approving the Pay Schedule is administerial.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Item Number______2F________ 

GM Review   ____CP_______ 

 

18

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


   

Resolution 2024-2323  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2323 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE SALARY PAY SCALES PURSUANT TO THE 
CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, SUBCHAPTER 1, EMPLOYEES’ 

RETIREMENT SYSTEM REGULATIONS SECTION 570.5 
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District”) adopted a Salary Pay Schedule 

for all employees on January 4, 2024; and  

WHEREAS, on October 5, 2023, the Board of Directors completed a performance evaluation of 

the General Manager for the period of August 8, 2022 to August 7, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, an amendment to the Employment Agreement to increase the General Manager’s 

base salary by five percent with an effective date of the payroll period containing August 8, 2023 

was authorized on February 15, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the pay period that contained August 8, 2023 started on August 7, 2023; and   

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has contracted with CalPERS to provide 

certain retirement benefits to its employees; and  

WHEREAS, the governance of retirement benefits provided to public employees in the state of 

California is governed by California Government Code Title 2, Division 5, Part 3 Public 

Employees’ Retirement System; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Administration of the Public Employees’ Retirement System has 

promulgated regulations to implement requirements of the governing law; and 

WHEREAS, the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System 

Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5) states that  

“(a) For purposes of determining the amount of “compensation earnable” pursuant to 

Government Code Sections 20630, 20636, and 20636.1, payrate shall be limited to the 

amount listed on a pay schedule that meets all of the following requirements: 

(1) Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in 

accordance with requirements of applicable public meeting laws;  

(2) Identifies the position title for every employee position;  

(3) Shows the payrate for each identified position, which may be stated as a 

single amount or as multiple amounts within a range;  

(4) Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is 

hourly, daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually;  

19



   

Resolution 2024-2323  Page 2 of 3 

(5) Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and 

available for public review from the employer during normal business hours or 

posted on the employer's internet website;  

(6) Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions;  

(7) Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less 

than five years; and  

(8) Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the payrate”. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby adopt the Salary Pay Schedule Effective March 7, 2024, incorporating the 

General Manager salary increase of August 7, 2023, which is attached as Exhibit A and is 

included by reference, in accordance with the requirements of the California Code of 

Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 

570.5). 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, at a regular meeting thereof held on March 7, 2024, by the following vote of 

the members thereof: 

  AYES, and in favor thereof, Members:  

 NOES, Members: 

 ABSENT, Members: 

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

   

           ________________________________ 

           Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary 

           Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

APPROVED: 

          (seal) 

___________________________________ 

Craig K. Murray, Board President 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

20



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT A

Salary Pay Schedule as of March 7, 2024

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Administrative Assistant 6,360            6,678            7,012            7,362            7,730            8,117           

Administrative/Financial Specialist 8,767            9,205            9,666            10,149          10,656          11,189         

Administrative Services Manager 15,470          16,244          17,056          17,909          18,804          19,744         

Assistant Engineer 9,677            10,161          10,669          11,202          11,763          12,351         

Associate Engineer 11,791          12,380          12,999          13,649          14,332          15,048         

Civil Engineering Technician  7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 15,093          15,848          16,640          17,472          18,346          19,263         

Collection System Operator (1) 6,053            6,356            6,674            7,007            7,358            7,726           

Collection System Operator I  (1) 6,360            6,678            7,012            7,362            7,730            8,117           

Collection System Operator II 6,682            7,016            7,367            7,735            8,122            8,528           

Collection System Operator III 7,195            7,555            7,933            8,330            8,746            9,183           

Collection System Operator Lead 7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

CMMS Technician 7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

District Engineer 15,857          16,650          17,482          18,357          19,274          20,238         

Executive Assistant / Board Secretary 13,103          13,758          14,446          15,168          15,927          16,723         

Electrical Instrumentation Technician 9,211            9,671            10,155          10,663          11,196          11,756         

Environmental Services Supervisor 11,222          11,784          12,373          12,991          13,641          14,323         

Grant Management and Procurement Specialist 8,767            9,205            9,666            10,149          10,656          11,189         

Laboratory Analyst‐in‐Training  (1) 7,375            7,744            8,131            8,538            8,965            9,413           

Laboratory Analyst I    (1) 7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

Laboratory Analyst II 8,553            8,981            9,430            9,901            10,396          10,916         

Laboratory Analyst III 9,919            10,415          10,936          11,483          12,057          12,659         

Maintenance Supervisor 11,222          11,784          12,373          12,991          13,641          14,323         

Plant Manager 15,470          16,244          17,056          17,909          18,804          19,744         

Plant Operator‐in‐Training (1) 6,682            7,016            7,367            7,735            8,122            8,528           

Plant Operator I   (1) 7,020            7,371            7,740            8,126            8,533            8,959           

Plant Operator II 7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

Plant Operator III 8,553            8,981            9,430            9,901            10,396          10,916         

Plant Operator Lead 9,211            9,671            10,155          10,663          11,196          11,756         

Plant Operations Supervisor 11,222          11,784          12,373          12,991          13,641          14,323         

Skilled Maintenance Worker I   (1) 6,682            7,016            7,367            7,735            8,122            8,528           

Skilled Maintenance Worker II 7,749            8,136            8,543            8,970            9,419            9,890           

General Manager (2)

  How to Use this Pay Scale:  Steps 1 through 6 are the regular base wage levels for all positions.
  Longevity Pay is available to eligible employees hired prior to 9/7/2023. Employees hired after 9/7/2023 are not eligible for longevity pay.
  Longevity Pay equal to 5% of employee's base wage rate is given beginning on the 7th year of employment for eligible employees. 
  Additional Longevity Pay of 3%  is given beginning on the 11th year of employment for eligible employees.
  Additional Longevity Pay equal to 2% is given beginning on the 16th year of employment for management hired prior to 7/1/2016.
   (1) Employees in entry level classifications are not eligible for longevity pay.  
   (2) The General Manager position is an executive contract position.  Base salary increase effective August 7, 2023.

Resolution No. 2024‐2323

Revised / Adopted _________

Full Time Positions

25,725   Effective August 7, 2023

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\PAYSCALES\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps March 7 2024 Res 2024-2323 Exhibit A21



Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report  

To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 

(415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: Approve Resolution 2024-2324 

Accepting Biosolids Land Application Services Project 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action  Information Other  . 

Standard Contract:    Yes        No (See attached) Not Applicable    X     . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve Resolution 2024-2324 Accepting Final Completion of Biosolids Land 
Application Services Project. 

BACKGROUND 
Synagro-WWT, Inc. completed all work related to the Biosolids Land Application Services 
Project awarded on August 17, 2023. The project consisted of application of dewatered 
biosolids for beneficial use at the District’s 66-acre non-irrigated pasture in the Reclamation 
Area as outlined in the Notice of Applicability (NOA) dated July 1, 2022 issued by the Regional 
Water Quality Control Board. This project closeout marks the completion of the first-year land 
application towards beneficial use of biosolids on District-owned property. The final cost is 
$391,950, which included a $5,000 credit for the leveling work that the District consultant 
deemed unnecessary at final completion.  

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
Board approved the Award of Contract for Biosolids Land Application Services Project to 
Synagro-WWT, Inc. on August 17, 2023. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 

Item Number_______2G___________ 

GM Review   _____CP_____________ 

22

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


Resolution No. 2024-2324   

RESOLUTION No 2024-2324 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE  
BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION SERVICES  

FOR 
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 
 WHEREAS, Synagro-WWT, Inc. of Baltimore, Maryland, executed a contract on 
September 18, 2023 in the amount of $396,950 to complete BIOSOLIDS LAND 
APPLICATION SERVICES project, Job No. 21500-08, scope defined in Contract 
Documents and Specifications dated July 2023 prepared by District staff and 
consultants;  
 

WHEREAS, Synagro-WWT, Inc. completed the project with a $5,000 credit for a 
final amount of $391,950; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Michael P. Cortez, District Engineer for the Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District by a Notice of Completion dated March 7, 2024, a copy of which is 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, has acknowledged that the aforementioned project has 
been completed, and found to be acceptable to the District in accordance with the 
Notice of Applicability dated July 1, 2022 issued by the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board.    
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District herein approves the Notice of Acceptance of Completion for recordation with the 
Marin County Recorder. 
 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 
regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District, Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on the 7th day of March 
2024, by the following vote of the members thereof: 
 

AYES, and in favor thereof, Members: 
NOES, Members: 
ABSTAIN, Members: 
ABSENT, Members: 
  

________________________________ 

         Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary 
      Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
APPROVED: 
           (seal) 
_____________________________________ 
Craig K. Murray, Board President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

23



Resolution No. 2024-2324   

Exhibit A 
 

Notice of Acceptance of Completion 
BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION SERVICES 

24



 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03072024\Biosolids Land Application Services\2024-2324 Notice of Acceptance of Completion - Biosolids 

Land Application Services.docx 

Recorded at the Request of: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

When Recorded Mail to: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District  

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 

San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

  
 Space above this Line for Recorder's Use 

 
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF COMPLETION 

 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

MARIN COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

 

BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION SERVICES 

  

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, Pursuant to Section 3093 of the Civil Code of the State of California, that  
Michael P. Cortez, District Engineer for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin County, California, 
on the 7th day of March 2024, did file with the Secretary of said District a Statement of Completion of the 
following described work, the BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION SERVICES project, Job No. 21500-08, 
the contract for doing which was awarded to Synagro-WWT, Inc. of Baltimore, Maryland, and entered into 
on September 18, 2023. A copy of said Statement of Completion is attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein as Attachment 1.  
 
That said work is public owned and held by said District for the benefit of the public, and were actually 
completed on 31st day of October 2023. Acceptance of completion of said work was ordered by the District 
Board on March 7, 2024. 
 
That said work consisted of the performing of all work and furnishing of all labor, materials, equipment and 
all utility and transportation services required for the completion of the BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION 
SERVICES project, all as more particularly described in the plans and specifications approved by the said 
District in July 2023. 
 
The project site was in San Rafael, CA 94903. 
 
OWNER: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 
 
VERIFICATION 
 
I, the undersigned, declare that I am the General Manager and duly authorized representative for the Las Gallinas 
Valley Sanitary District, Marin County, California, and that I have read the foregoing notice, know its contents, 
and that the facts therein stated are true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
(CONTINUED NEXT PAGE) 

25



 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03072024\Biosolids Land Application Services\2024-2324 Notice of Acceptance of Completion - Biosolids 

Land Application Services.docx 

I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury that the forgoing is true and correct. 
 
Executed at San Rafael, California, this __________________________ day of March 2024. 
 
 
      LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
      
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Curtis Paxton, General Manager 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



 

 
101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 

 

 

BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION SERVICES 

(JOB NO. 21500-08) 

 

 

I, Michael P. Cortez, District Engineer, for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, do hereby certify that work described in the contract, which was entered into by and 

between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District and Synagro-WWT, Inc. of Baltimore, Maryland, dated 

September 18, 2023 was completed to my satisfaction on October 31st, 2023. 

 

That said work is more particularly described in the Contract Documents dated July 2023, 

prepared by District staff, and advertised for public bidding on July 19, 2023. 

 

I understand that neither the determination of completeness of the work, nor acceptance of the 

work by the District, shall operate to bar claims against the Contractor under the terms of the guarantee 

provisions of the Contract Documents. 

 

Dated: March 7, 2024 

 

 

       By: ________________________________ 

        Michael P. Cortez, PE 

        District Engineer 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03072024\Biosolids Land Application Services\2024-2324 Statement of Acceptance of Completion - 

Biosolids Land Application Services.docx 

27



Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report  

To: Board of Directors 

From: Teri Lerch, Executive Assistant/Board Secretary 
  (415) 526-1510; tlerch@lgvsd.org 

Mtg. Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: July Board Meeting Schedule Modification 

Item Type: Consent  X  Action  Information  Other      . 

Standard Contract:    Yes   No (See attached) Not Applicable     X   . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Board approve cancelling the July 4th Board meeting. 

BACKGROUND 
The District Board Meetings are regularly scheduled on the first and third Thursday of each 
month. Occasionally, Special Meetings are scheduled, or Board Meetings need to be cancelled to 
accommodate scheduling conflicts. 

The Fourth of July falls on the first Thursday of July.  Staff requests the cancelling of the July 4th 
Board meeting due to the observed holiday that day. The next scheduled Board meeting is July 
18, 2024. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 

PERSON TO BE NOTIFIED: 
Public notice in accordance with District Policy and as required under the Brown Act. 

Item Number_______2H______ 

GM Review   ________CP_______ 

28



Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report  

To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 

(415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: March 7, 2024 

Re: Award of Contract for Design Services to Noll & Tam Architects 
Multipurpose Lab Building 

Item Type: Consent     X  Action  Information Other  . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X  No (See attached) Not Applicable      . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of a contract for Architectural Design Services for the Multipurpose 
Lab Building to Noll & Tam Architects in the amount of $1,890,899. 

BACKGROUND 
District staff, with input from the Operations Control Centers (OCCs) Ad Hoc Committee, has 
completed the evaluation of proposals in response to the Request for Proposals (RFP) for the 
design of a two-story Multipurpose Lab Building issued on August 28, 2023. The primary focus 
of evaluation as outlined in the objectives of the RFP (see Attachment 3) is direct experience as 
a prime consultant in designing laboratory buildings with emphasis on District’s California State 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program (ELAP) certification needs and code 
compliance, as well as an education center with dual-purpose classroom and boardroom.  

After discussion with the OCC Ad Hoc Committee on November 15, 2023 and January 29, 2024, 
District staff deemed Noll & Tam Architects best meets the RFP criteria and District requirements. 
Noll & Tam’s experience includes North Coast County Water District Headquarters Upgrade in 
Pacifica and North Marin Water District Headquarters Upgrade in Novato, both of which included 
design of a new water quality laboratory. Noll & Tam’s project team consists of 10 subconsultants 
that included Miller Pacific Engineering Group for geotechnical and BKF Engineers for civil, which 
both are familiar with the proposed site and have performed quality work on prior District projects. 

The scope of work covers conceptual, schematic, and construction design development, with bid 
assistance and construction administration services, with fee estimate not to exceed $1,890,899 
(see Attachments 1 & 2). The current proposed schedule is as follows: 

1. Award of a Consultant Contract March 7, 2024 
2. Notice to Proceed March 21, 2024 
3. Design Phase 13 Months (Mar 2024 – Mar 2025) 
4. Bid Phase 3 Months (April – June 2025) 
5. Construction Phase 1 Year (July 2025 – June 2026) 

Item Number________3__________ 

GM Review   ________CP__________ 

29

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

Other consultants that responded to the RFP are listed below in alphabetical order: 
 

• Danadjieva Hansen Architects (Tiburon) 

• Integrated Project Solutions (Walnut Creek) 

• Marcy Wong Donn Logan Architects (Berkeley) 

• MBH Architects (Alameda) 

• MWA Architects (San Francisco) 

• RMW Architecture & Interiors (San Francisco) 

• Shah Kawasaki Architects (Oakland) 

• Ware Malcolm (San Francisco) 
 
The project has a budget of $750,000 in the FY 2023-24 CIP, which staff anticipates would be 
sufficient to cover design expenses until the end of fiscal year on June 30, 2024. To cover the 
remaining expenses of $1.14M, District staff hereby request, contingent with the award of a 
contract, Board approval for the following:  
 

1. Allocate a new budget for Multipurpose Lab Building as a continuing CIP project in FY 
2024-25 from general revenue.   

 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
$1,890,899 

30



PROPOSAL 

MULTIPURPOSE  
LABORATORY BUILDING

JOB NO. 24600-01 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY  
SANITARY DISTRICT

5 OCTOBER 2023

31

pquinn
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 1Noll & Tam Proposal



729 Heinz Avenue #7  |  Berkeley CA 94710  |  P: 510.542.2220 F: 510.542.2201  |  scott.salge@nollandtam.com

5 October 2023

Michael Cortez, Project Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903

Re: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Design Services for a  
Multipurpose Laboratory Building

Mr. Cortez and Members of the Selection Committee: 
Communities deserve great infrastructure and the teams of people who provide stewardship for community 
utilities deserve a workplace that promotes growth and reflects dedication to the mission. The Las Gallinas 
Valley Sanitary District should expect a highly reliable multipurpose laboratory building to help keep 
utility systems running smoothly in ordinary and trying times. The new facility should honor the natural 
surroundings of the site, paying particular attention to the impact on the bird population and other local 
wildlife. Our driving vision for this project is to design, engineer and deliver a facility that not only lasts you 
well into the future, but serves hard-working District staff elegantly, efficiently, and comprehensively.

Established in 1992, Noll & Tam has assisted municipal clients and agencies in planning and executing their 
projects in a thoughtful, practical, and forward-thinking way. In this proposal, we highlight our work with the 
North Coast County Water District, North Marin Water District, and Oro Loma Sanitary District. These similar 
projects have given us a keen understanding of the opportunities and challenges this project could face and 
inform our strategies to provide turnkey design and engineering solutions to meet the needs of the District. 

For this project, I will serve as Principal in Charge, providing expertise in municipal projects with complex 
program requirements and multiple user groups, ensuring that all project goals are met by our team. 

Elaine Kross, our talented and experienced Project Manager, draws upon her experience gained from her work 
with the Oro Loma Sanitary District. Jessica Jobe Sea, who is currently working with me on the North Marin 
Water District Headquarters project in Novato, will act as Lab Planner. 

We’ve invited a number of key consultants to join us for this project, with a particular focus on engaging with 
local firms to more closely serve their community with expertise and knowledge. Above all else, we value our 
relationships with our clients, and would give this project all the enthusiasm, energy, and conscientious effort 
for which we are known.

We have reviewed all District-issued addenda and have included a signed receipt at the end of this proposal.

Sincerely,

Scott Salge, AIA, LEED AP  
Principal/Secretary

(Authorized to legally bind the firm) 

32



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  01

SELECTED CLIENT LIST
Alameda County Water District

Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART)

Castro Valley Sanitary District

Midpeninsula Regional Open Space 
District

North Coast County Water District

North Marin Water District

Oro Loma Sanitary District

Soquel Creek Water District

City and County of Alameda

City of Albany

City of Antioch

City of Benicia

City of Berkeley

City of El Cerrito

City of Fairfield

City of Fremont 

City of Half Moon Bay

City of Hayward

City of Morgan Hill

City of Marina

City of Menlo Park

City of Milpitas

City of Oakland

City of Oakley

City of Palo Alto

City of Pinole

City of Pleasanton

City of Rohnert Park

City of Sacramento

City of San Carlos

City and County of San Francisco

City of San Pablo

City of Santa Clara

City of Saratoga

City of South San Francisco

City of St. Helena

City of Sunnyvale

County of Marin

County of Napa

County of Sacramento

FIRM QUALIFICATIONS
Noll & Tam Architects was founded 
in 1992 to establish a talented 
studio of architects promoting 
active community involvement 
and environmentally responsive 
design. Today, our Berkeley-based 
firm has 40 creative and energetic 
staff members, including 17 licensed 
architects, 16 LEED Accredited 
Professionals, and  
3 interior designers.

Our team brings together the talents 
of architects and subconsultants 
who understand public work, office 
buildings, and designing for a coastal 
setting. As Prime Architect, Noll & 
Tam will provide the overall team 
direction, overseeing the consultants, 
leading the planning and design, and 
managing the documentation of the 
project. In the following pages, we 
have listed the firm profiles of our 
selected subconsultants. Our team is 
available to begin work immediately 
upon award of the contract.

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Over the last 30 years, 95% of Noll & 
Tam’s projects have been for public 
clients. Our clients represent over 
40 varied and diverse communities, 
agencies, and organizations – many 
of whom we have decades-long 
relationships with. We are known 
for providing outstanding service, 
expert project management, and 
creative design solutions within 
the constraints of given programs, 
schedules, and budgets.

Our experience includes work with 
other water districts, including North 
Coast County Water District, North 
Marin Water District, Alameda County 
Water District in Fremont, and Soquel 
Creek Water District in Santa Cruz 
County. We also recently completed 
work for the Oro Loma Sanitary 
District in San Lorenzo. 

We look forward to working with you 
on this project.

NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS
2023 SCHEDULE OF 
HOURLY BILLING RATES
Professional Hourly Billing Rates: 

Principal  $250-$290

Associate Principal $220-$230

Senior Architect/ 
Project Manager  $190 - $220

Intermediate Architect/ 
Project Architect  $165 - $180

Intermediate Technical  $150 - $170

Junior Technical  $130 - $140

Interior Designer  $150 - $160

Graphics / Project  
Administration  $100 - $120

Reimbursable Expenses

Reproduction, travel outside the 
Bay Area, renderings, computer 
models, physical models, postage, 
messengers, and other usual 
expenses will be billed at 1.15 times 
actual cost.

For additional hourly rates for 
subconsultants, please refer to our 
Fee Schedule, included after resumes.

33



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  02

KEY FEATURES

 � RENOVATION & 
ADDITION

 � ADMINISTRATIVE 
OFFICES

 � WATER QUALITY LABS

PROJECT INFORMATION
Client: North Coast County 
Water District
Location: Pacifica, CA
Owner Reference: Adrianne 
Carr, General Manager
Phone: (650) 355-3462
Email: acarr@nccwd.com
Size: 16,567 SF

NORTH COAST COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
HEADQUARTERS UPGRADE
After performing an initial facility assessment and needs study of the 
1960s-era building, Noll & Tam presented three options to the Board for 
replacement vs. renovation and expansion. We were then engaged to 
renovate the 4,600 SF maintenance facility and design a new 9,700 SF 
administrative addition, including an upgraded water quality lab, board 
room, and conference room/training spaces. A later phase will renovate the 
corporation yard and provide additional support buildings. Ultimately, the 
project will provide a safe, modern, and high-performance workplace to 
retain staff and address essential service security requirements, that will  
last the next 75 years.

34



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  03

ORO LOMA SANITARY DISTRICT FACILITIES 
Noll & Tam worked with the Oro Loma Sanitary District to renovate their 
office headquarters to update it for a modern work environment. The project 
was comprised of a 2,500 SF new building for the locker rooms and a  
1,200 SF renovation that reorganized work environments and communal 
spaces so that daily operations can be more functional. The new locker 
rooms are welcoming, with a lot of natural light, modern yet durable finishes, 
layouts and functions that accommodate staff with disabilities, and more 
privacy to respond to a more inclusive, gender-balanced staff. Private 
changing areas within the shower stalls; high-quality, slip-resistant flooring; 
full privacy toilet partitions; high-performing, long-lasting solid phenolic 
lockers; and fully automated bathroom fixtures are all included in the design.

KEY FEATURES

 � RENOVATION & 
ADDITION

 � PUBLIC AGENCY CLIENT

 � EXPERIENCE WITH 
SANITATION DISTRICT

PROJECT INFORMATION
Client: Oro Loma  
Sanitary District
Location: San Lorenzo, CA
Owner Reference: Jimmy Dang, 
District Engineer
Phone: (510) 481-6981
Email: jdang@oroloma.org
Size: 10,307 SF

35



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  04

NORTH MARIN WATER DISTRICT  
HEADQUARTERS UPGRADE
As the first phase of our work with this water district in Novato, Noll & Tam 
conducted a needs assessment and site analysis to explore the prospect 
of a significant renovation or new facility for the District Headquarters. 
The recommendations from our master plan are now moving into the 
implementation phase, with a renovation of the existing building plus a  
3,300 SF addition. The project includes public and training spaces, 
modernized staff and administration spaces, a new water quality lab, and 
general improvements to the operation and maintenance of the facility.

KEY FEATURES

 � RENOVATION 

 � ADMINISTRATIVE 
OFFICES

 � WATER QUALITY LABS

PROJECT INFORMATION
Client: North Marin  
Water District
Location: Novato, CA
Owner Reference: Tony 
Williams, General Manager, 
Chief Engineer
Phone: (415) 761-8945
Email: twilliams@nmwd.com

Owner Reference: Robert 
Clark, Operations/Maintenance 
Superintendent
Phone: (415) 761-8931
Email: rclark@nmwd.com
Size: 13,500 SF

36



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  05

As Prime Architect, Noll & Tam will 
provide the overall team direction, 
overseeing the consultants and 
leading the design process. We 
intend to collaborate with the District 
and other stakeholders to ensure that 
the project moves forward efficiently. 
The key personnel listed here will be 
your project team and are available 
to provide all services that the project 
requires. On the next page we’ve 
included an Organizational Chart 
listing the subconsultants we are 
proposing to partner with. 

PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE
SCOTT SALGE
With 25 years of experience, nearly 14 
of them with Noll & Tam, Scott Salge 
brings a strong understanding of 
constructability issues, construction 
practices, and building materials that 
ultimately informs the development 
of successful design documents. He 
has extensive experience working 
with water districts, municipalities, 
and administrative divisions. As PIC 
Scott will communicate with clients 
and consultants in a straightforward, 
practical way, and provide oversight 
and direction of the project as a 
whole. He will:

• Provide team leadership

• Work with the District project 
leaders to define design goals and 
objectives

• Lead during the decision-making 
process

• Manage project design criteria and 
budget 

• Direct firm-wide resources 
including staffing, quality 
assurance, programming expertise

• Oversee broad project objectives 
(sustainability, code compliance, 
environmental conditions)

TEAM QUALIFICATIONS
PROJECT MANAGER
ELAINE KROSS
Elaine has spent the last 6 years 
of her career working with Noll 
& Tam. She will act as Project 
Manager throughout the duration 
of this project, leading the design, 
coordinating the production 
of documents, interfacing with 
consultants, and administering 
construction administration. Her 
technical skills are enhanced by 
her ability to clearly communicate 
design vision and technical viability. 
She will follow the project from 
initial design through construction, 
providing critical continuity and 
coordination. Elaine will stay in 
close communication with Scott, the 
Principal in Charge, and other design 
staff on the project to identify and 
coordinate project issues and find 
effective solutions. The PM role will 
provide:

• Coordination of consultants’ design 
and documents

• Supervision of document 
preparation

• Adhere to client design standards

• Reconcile project scope with 
budgets

• Coordinate the technical 
development of the project

• Handle project schedule and 
meeting milestones

LAB PLANNER
JESSICA JOBE SEA
Jessica has been with Noll & Tam 
since 2013 and brings 11 years of 
strong experience in architectural 
design and project management 
for civic, community, and cultural 
projects. Jessica’s technical skills are 
enhanced by her ability to clearly 
communicate design vision and 
intention. She is able to bring dispa-
rate user groups to consensus and 
move community projects forward. 
Jessica is currently working with the 
North Coast County Water District 
and the North Marin Water District 
and will draw on past experience 
working on the water science lab 
renovation for the Monterey Bay 
Aquarium. 

THE MARINE MAMMAL CENTER

37



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  06

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

SUBCONSULTANTS

ORGANIZATION CHART

NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS
Prime Architect

Scott Salge 
Principal in Charge

Elaine Kross 
Project Manager

Jessica Jobe Sea 
Lab Planner

GUTTMAN & BLAEVOET 
MEP/Lighting/Fire Protection/Fire 
Alarm/Commissioning/Advanced 

Commissioning/Lab Systems
Mark Brown, PE
Electrical Engineer

Gurdaver Singh, PE, LEED AP, C. Eng
Mechanical Engineer

BKF ENGINEERS
Civil Engineering

Jonathan Tang, PE
Senior Civil Project Manager

LSA 
CEQA 

Shanna Guiller, AICP
Senior Environmental Planner

MILLER PACIFIC 
Geotech

Eric Dabanian
Principal Engineer

WC3
Inspection 

Joe Rossbach, MCP, CBO 
Building Inspection  

Manager/Plans Examiner

QUADRIGA
Landscape

Christine Talbot
Principal

TBD
Cost Estimation

Sam Evison
Principal

SFMI 
AV/Acoustics/Telecom/Sec

Peter McDonald
Principal

IDA STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS
Structural Engineering

Steven De Jesse, SE 
Principal

CUMMING MANAGEMENT 
GROUP 

Construction Management
John Olsson

Project Executive 
Hermon Blackmon 

Senior Project Manager

38



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  07

SUBCONSULTANTS
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER
IDA STRUCTURAL 
ENGINEERS, INC.
STEPHEN DEJESSE, SE – 
PRINCIPAL

IDA Structural Engineers, Inc. 
(IDA) is a full-service consulting 
structural engineering firm originally 
established in 1986. Located in 
Oakland with a staff of 16, IDA’s 
engineers have experience working 
with municipalities throughout 
Northern California on important 
water treatment facilities and 
maintenance and operation buildings. 
Clients include EBMUD, Petaluma 
Water Services, Point Isabel Wet 
Weather Treatment Plant, Easterly 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, Ellis 
Creek Water Recycling, Sunnyvale 
Water Pollution Control, and San 
Mateo/Foster City Estero Municipal 
Improvement District.

MEP/LIGHTING/FIRE 
PROTECTION/FIRE ALARM/
COMMISSIONING/ADVANCED 
COMMISSIONING/LAB SYSTEMS 
GUTTMAN & BLAEVOET
MARK BROWN, PE – ELECTRICAL 
ENGINEER

GURDAVER SINGH, PE, LEED AP, C. 
ENG – MECHANICAL ENGINEER

Since 1956 Guttman & Blaevoet 
has had the mission of providing 
engineering and consulting services 
with a focus on high performance 
building design. They have extensive 
experience providing consulting and 
design services for civic and public 
facilities, including recent work with 
the Department of Public Utilities 
Southeast Surface Water Treatment 
Facility Administrative Building 
for the City of Fresno, and many 
other Operations and Maintenance 
Departments and Corporation Yards. 
In addition, G&B brings strong 

experience in laboratory facilities that 
balance their needs for functionality, 
energy-efficiency, environmental 

controls, code compliance, and cost. 

CIVIL ENGINEERING
BKF ENGINEERS
JONATHAN TANG, PE – SENIOR 
CIVIL PROJECT MANAGER

Since 1915, BKF Engineers has 
successfully planned, designed, 
surveyed, and implemented 
complex projects. They diligently 
guide projects from the initial due 
diligence and feasibility stages, 
progressing through project designs 
and permitting approvals, and 
concluding with construction and 
implementation. This approach 
recognizes that developing dynamic 
projects requires focused team 
collaboration. We have had the 
privilege of collaborating with BKF on 
a number of projects, including the 
North Coast County Water District 
Headquarters Upgrade, and has 
personal experience working with 
LGVSD on two past projects.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS
QUADRIGA LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECTURE 
CHRISTINE TALBOT - PRINCIPAL

Since their beginning in 1997, 
Quadriga has been committed 
to providing expert landscape 
architecture and planning services 
to their clients throughout California. 
Their process hinges on four 
basic components – listening, 
communicating, designing, and 
creating – and it is through these 
processes that they curate unique 
spaces specific to the needs of their 
clients. Quadriga has worked with 
us on the North Marin Water District 
Headquarters Upgrade.

AV/ACOUSTICS/TELECOM/
SECURITY
SMITH, FAUSE, & 
MCDONALD, INC.
PETER MCDONALD - PRINCIPAL

Formed in 1986 Smith, Fause & 
McDonald, Inc. is a San Francisco 
based engineering firm specialized 
in design of telecommunications, 
electronic security, audio-visual and 
acoustical engineering systems. 
Services include design of data, 
voice and video networking systems 
and distribution systems including 
Local, Metropolitan and Wide Area 
Networks, wireless networking, 
VoIP and telephone systems, OPAC 
and the supporting infrastructure 
including structured cabling 
infrastructure, horizontal cabling, 
pathways and telecommunication 
closets; design of audio-visual 
systems, public address and intercom 
systems, master clocks, CATV and 
MATV systems, video media servers; 
electronic security systems including 
access control, intrusion detection 
and CCTV surveillance cameras; 
architectural acoustics, room 
acoustics, sound isolation, mechanical 
noise and vibration mitigation.

COST ESTIMATING
TBD CONSULTANTS
SAM EVISON - PRINCIPAL

TBD, Inc is dedicated to the provision 
of excellence in construction 
cost management and project 
management services to owners and 
their professional consultants. They 
specialize in developing construction 
cost estimates based on the most 
conceptual information as well as the 
detailed and complex later stages 
of design. TBD provides clients with 
defensible and reliable information 
at all stages of a project, and lends 
expertise to control time and budget, 
and manage risks from project 
inception to completion.

39



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  08

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER 
MILLER PACIFIC ENGINEERING 
GROUP
ERIC DABANIAN – PRINCIPAL 
ENGINEER

Miller Pacific Engineering Group 
(MPEG) provides clients with 
special services in the Geosciences 
by drawing on over thirty years of 
the firm’s professional expertise in 
Geology, Geo-Civil and Geotechnical 
Engineering. Their services span 
the range of Geotechnical Planning, 
Geological Hazards Analysis, 
Geotechnical Exploration and 
Testing, Foundation Engineering, 
Construction Monitoring, Geo-Civil 
Engineering and Distressed Property 
Evaluation. They currently provide 
on-call Geologic and Geotechnical 
services for several project 
stakeholders, including Marin County, 
Sonoma County, and the Marin 
Municipal Water District.

CEQA 
LSA ASSOCIATES, INC.
SHANNA GUILER, AICP – SENIOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNER

LSA has 47 years of experience 
helping clients navigate the often-
complex process of environmental 
review pursuant to CEQA and the 
National Environmental Policy 
Act (NEPA). The firm offers 
technical expertise in the areas 
of biological resources, wetland 
permitting, air quality, noise, climate 
change, cultural, historical and 
paleontological resources, land use 
and community planning, natural 
resources, transportation, water 
quality, geographic information 
systems and graphics, and document 
management. Their recent work 
has included the West County 
Wastewater Comprehensive Energy 
and Sustainability Upgrades 
Project in Contra Costa County, and 
several projects with the Richmond 
Wastewater Treatment Plant.

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
& INSPECTION 
WEST COAST CODE 
CONSULTANTS, INC.
JOE ROSSBACH, MCP, CBO – 
BUILDING INSPECTION MANAGER/
PLANS EXAMINER

West Coast Code Consultants, Inc. 
(WC3) is a code consulting firm, 
serving local jurisdictions with 
complete plan review, inspection, 
and other comprehensive services 
for nearly 17 years. WC3 thrives on 
the ability to offer an array of code 
compliance services in the Building 
Safety; Fire Prevention; Energy and 
Power; and Civil Engineering and 
Public Works disciplines.

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
CUMMING GROUP
JOHN OLSSON – PROJECT 
EXECUTIVE

HERMON BLACKMON - SENIOR 
PROJECT MANAGER

Cumming Group has been drawing 
on their deep experience in the 
communities and sectors they serve, 

anticipating problems, delivering 
solutions, and driving results for 
their clients since their opening in 
1996. Their industrial sector team is 
comprised of professional engineers, 
licensed contractors, resident 
engineers, and project/construction 
managers. Cumming recently 
completed work on the Rancho San 

Diego Pump Station in San Diego.

EXHIBIT DESIGN AND 
DEVELOPMENT
We strive to plan a cohesive 
experience to connect learning 
opportunities from the immediate 
Las Gallinas Valley to built education 
spaces. Making the connection for 
people of all ages to the science 
of water and the environment has 
become a common thread for our 
clients. From Monterey Bay Aquarium 
labs to the Midpen Administrative 
Offices. These exhibits showcase 
the mission of our special districts 
in fun, interactive ways. We work 
with a wide variety of consultants to 
deliver exhibit spaces, digital content, 
physical interactives and creative 
learning environments, tailoring an 
experience from our clients vision.

MIDPENINSULA REGIONAL OPEN SPACE DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE TI 

40



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  09

MONTEREY BAY AQUARIUM WATER SCIENCE LAB

PROJECT APPROACH
INTRODUCTION
Our team’s experience includes the 
design of learning environments 
and highly specialized facilities for 
a variety of public entities. We bring 
a deep understanding that blends 
our technical expertise with adept 
collaboration and insightful visioning. 
With all our clients, our first step is to 
understand their core organization 
culture and values, so that the design 
options we develop support their 
mission and goals.

We bring an extensive track record in 
facilitating complex public projects, 
navigating multiple stakeholder 
groups, and integrating both 
schedule and budget constraints to 
ensure timely and effective project 
completion. We are confident in our 
ability to guide the design process 
while keeping the ultimate use of the 
space in the forefront of our mind. In 

the following pages, we’ve provided 
an outline of how we would work with 
you through the process, as well as 
some of the key opportunities we 
see for the project. We look forward 
to the opportunity to work with the 
District to create a new Multipurpose 
Laboratory Building for District staff, 
services and the public.

PROJECT SCOPE 
UNDERSTANDING
We understand the scope of this 
Multipurpose Laboratory building 
to be a two-story facility to replace 
the existing single-story structure 
within the same site area while 
accommodating new parking lot 
features and addressing the site 
constraints. This new building shall 
include:

• First floor Laboratory with some 
Lab Office Space

• Second floor Education Center 

• Second floor Dual-purpose 
Classroom and Boardroom

• Supporting spaces such as break 
rooms, restrooms, utilities, and 
horizontal and vertical circulation.

The surrounding site scope will 
include:

• Staff and visitor parking; including 
solar canopies where feasible and 
designated parking for clean air 
vehicles as required per City of San 
Rafael Ordinance.

• Utility work as required.

Additionally, we will work with 
the district to plan for ongoing 
operational capabilities of the 
existing lab during construction.

41



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  10

Designing for Sustainability at Half Moon Bay Library

The Half Moon Bay Library has been designed to be Zero Net Energy and LEED 
Platinum. Natural daylighting is a key design feature to reduce reliance on 
electricity, and high-performance insulation and glazing further reduce the need 
for heating and cooling energy; aided by automatic windows for thermal comfort 
and airflow. The materials used on both the interior and exterior of the building 
reflect the building’s coastal surroundings and were selected for sustainability and 
reduced maintenance. The Half Moon Bay Library is a physical landmark and the 
cultural heart of the community. It was recognized in 2019 with an AIA/ALA Library 
Building Award, IIDA Northern California “Give” Award, and an AIA SF Sustainable 
Community Infrastructure Award. 

A PLACE FOR EVERYONE
It is fundamental for multipurpose 
buildings to prioritize flexibility in all 
aspects as we consider its variety 
of uses, the adaptability of future 
change and the diverse needs 
and abilities of all people. With a 
commingling of outside visitors, 
lab technicians, staff, pedestrians, 
and fleet vehicles, it is important 
to provide clear and accessible 
circulation, visibility, and workflows 
for each contrasting use case. As a 
public building, the public reception 
must be welcoming and hospitable 
for people of all ages, abilities, and 
cultures. 

The District Staff clearly take a 
lot of pride in their work, and we 
want to design the spaces that 
support those contributions to the 
organization’s success. It is important 
that the physical facility supports a 
cohesive and healthy working culture 
through daily interaction and shared 
amenities amongst all staff. 

APPROACH
Our intent is to build upon the 
District’s exemplary environmental 
stewardship and provide a 
thoughtfully crafted facility that 
continues to enrich the communities 
it serves. There is a complex yet 
dynamic interaction between the 
natural and manufactured systems 
that surround us, and so as architects, 
we try to create synergy between 
the technical and functional needs 
of the built environment while 
simultaneously sitting lightly on the 
land. 

Through our experience with 
educational buildings, we see 
the importance of educating the 
public on how to live sustainably 
with natural systems and habitats 
through sustainable design that 
is on full display. In collaboration 
with specialized exhibit designers, 
our team can create an engaging 
user experience, advancing the 
level of environmental literacy, 
knowledge of local wildlife and 
conservation science. But it isn’t only 
interactive exhibits and educational 
programming that provides teachable 
moments. We also believe buildings 
can demonstrate responsible water 
conservation and stormwater 
management through a wide variety 
of sustainable design features 
such as shed roofs, bioswales with 
native planting that capture and 
clean stormwater and solar thermal 
systems for hot water. 

Our extensive lab experience has 
helped us understand the complex 
interrelationship between the public 
use of the facility for educational 
purposes and the highly specialized 
laboratory use. Providing various 
levels of access to separate some 
spaces while allowing for other 
shared facilities can be important to 
the design. Viewing windows into 
treatment areas gives visitors and 
student field trips a glimpse into the 

District’s vital work. We feel this type 
of transparency is in line with the 
District’s commitment to empower 
the public with information and 
showcase how their work supports 
the ecology that is there. 

SUSTAINABLE DESIGN
When designing a comfortable, 
energy efficient facility, we look to 
passive systems first. Reducing the 
energy needs of the building has 
compounding savings for the District, 
not only in operating costs over the 
years, but in initial construction cost 
for mechanical heating and cooling 
equipment, PV panels, and battery 
backup systems that are now code-
required. Our passive design process 
includes managing the window to 
solid wall ratio and solar orientation 
to maximize insulation as well as 
daylight and views. We emphasize 
glazing in the places that will have 
the best impact on the human 
experience, while also providing 
shading and insulation where it is 
most effective. 

42



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  11

Another key approach to designing 
spaces for all people is to support 
their health and well-being. Buildings 
can have a positive effect on our 
physical, mental, and emotional 
welfare. So, whether we are designing 
a working, learning or simply a 
welcoming environment, our project 
will aim to provide greater occupant 
comfort, be inclusive for all and 
connect people with place and 
nature. 

As a modern society we spend most 
of our time indoors, often neglecting 
our well-being and innate need to 
connect with nature. To address 
this, we employ biophilic design 
principles-prioritizing ample view and 
daylight, indoor-outdoor synergies, 
the use of healthy materials-to 
nurture this nature connection.

RESILIENT FACILITY
Though your Laboratory Building 
is not categorized as an Essential 
Facility per the California Building 
Code, it is still important for the 
District to maintain operability during 
extreme weather and seismic events. 
Our design and engineering team will 
explore structural systems that are 
seismically resilient, like steel frames 
with buckling restrained braces. 

To address sea level rise and storm 
surge concerns, our engineering 

team will work together to propose 
stormwater management strategies 
and explore cost-effective, site-
specific building design criteria to 
address these issues. 

We will design for resilience to power 
outages by reducing the power 
demand and designing for critical 
systems to be supported by battery 
backup. We know that keeping your 
lab equipment and communications 
systems live 24/7 is crucial to your 
operations, so we will work to design 
protections for these tools to keep 
the facility resilient to power outages. 
At the North Marin Water District 
Headquarters, we worked with the 
stakeholders and our electrical 
engineer to facilitate a relocation of 
their SCADA servers into the new 
addition without downtime and 
designed for a backup generator 

THE MARINE MAMMAL CENTER

MIDPENINSULA DISTRICT OFFICE

with an Automatic Transfer Switch 
to power critical systems, as well as 
UPS for the servers to protect against 
signal loss during power outages. 
Furthermore, we will strive to create 
flexibility for changing technology in 
the future. While it is hard to predict 
what exactly will change, we can work 
with the District and our consultants 
to provide accessible raceways for 
power and data, as well as additional 
capacity for future equipment.

CRITICAL ISSUES FOR THIS 
PROJECT
This project approach addresses 
many of the critical issues for the 
Laboratory Building in the sections 
above. The site itself with the 
ongoing District work will provide 
some additional constraints and 
opportunities.

We will work with the District to 
minimize the disruption to ongoing 
operations during construction. 
Strategies can include detailed 
site plans that outline circulation 
of construction and District 
vehicles, separated zones for 
construction laydown and storage, 
and establishing protocols for 
scheduling utility shutdowns or 
other construction disruptions. Noll 
& Tam has worked through many 
projects with a partially occupied site 
or building, and we can partner with 
the District and General Contractor 
to reduce the friction between 

43



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  12

construction and daily District 
operations. Protecting the existing 
resources, including the existing 
infrastructure, is of high importance 
for this project. 

Shepherding this project through 
agency review—and ensuring 
that neither scope nor schedule is 
impacted—will be critical throughout 
the design and construction phases. 
Our workplan will factor in meetings, 
presentations, and preparation 
for key deliverables to the various 
Boards, Committees and other 
agencies having jurisdiction.

We will thoughtfully consider the 
scale of the building elements and 
the orientation of lighting, windows, 
and vehicular circulation. The design 
phases will explore site lines to the 
beautiful wildlife, help reduce light 
pollution as outlined in the Dark Sky 
Initiative, and design inclusively for 
visitors of the SF Bay Trail and Las 
Gallinas Wildlife Ponds. 

EFFECTIVE COST CONTROL
All of our public projects have 
limited budgets and require us to 
investigate a number of alternative 
design solutions. We work creatively 
to balance the priorities of the users 
with what they can afford. During 
the design process, we work with 
our clients to develop solutions 
that stretch the budget, improving 
the spirit and character of a facility 
while at the same time maximizing 
functionality and addressing other 
programmatic needs.

We propose an interactive process 
with the District, the design team, 
and the cost estimator to identify 
potential alternates and to determine 
the most cost-effective means of 
setting priorities and reaching a 
design goal. We will also explore the 
cost-benefit analysis of various green 
building measures. 

As we work through design phases, 
if our cost estimates exceed the 

budget, we present our client a 
menu of potential value engineering 
items to immediately offer tangible 
solutions. In addition to bid alternates 
and realistic contingencies, we inform 
our clients promptly when we see a 
significant change in the construction 
market.

Our cost management strategies fall 
into two primary categories:

• Initial Capital investment: This 
includes strong passive design 
strategies to conserve water and 
power. Designing for reduced 
demand means reduced costs 
of producing power through PV 
panels, storing power with reduced 
batteries, and less load for HVAC/
mechanical equipment. 

• Continuing Costs for Operations: 
With the passive design strategies 
in place, the District will have lower 
operating costs, which compound 
over the life of a building. What you 
invest in up front will be impacting 
you for 75 years of service. This 
reduction of operating costs can be 
part of the District’s stewardship 
of your community through great 
service, robust infrastructure, and 
resilience in times of need.

SCHEDULE MANAGEMENT
Working almost exclusively in 
the public sector requires strong, 
proactive schedule control. We 

understand how critical it is to adhere 
to the project schedule, especially 
when coordinating the public funding 
schedule and swing spaces for 
your critical staff crews. We pride 
ourselves on working effectively as 
a partner with the District’s project 
management team to assist in timely 
decision making and detailing a 
realistic project timeline.

Our proposed Work Plan, Project 
Schedule, and Deliverables outline 
the tasks in each phase, stakeholder 
and agency review process, 
milestones, overall project vision and 
goals, and other relevant elements. 
It outlines the sequence and 
dependencies of all the project tasks, 
the timeframes needed to accomplish 
the tasks, project milestones, District 
review periods, responsibilities of the 
various parties, and other elements of 
the process. We also use this effort as 
an opportunity to identify potential 
efficiencies and risk factors and 
shape our process accordingly.

The project Work Plan and Project 
Schedule will be living documents 
that will be updated on a regular 
basis in coordination with the District 
to reflect changes to the workflow 
and the realities of the process. We 
take our commitment to the schedule 
very seriously and will make sure to 
deliver on our commitments at each 
stage of the process.

CAPITOLA LIBRARY CONFERENCE AND EDUCATION ROOM

44



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  13

Scott Salge has more than 20 years of experience and is a principal with  
the firm. Prior to coming to Noll & Tam, Scott managed his own architecture 

practice, where he developed his ability to communicate with clients and 
consultants in a practical, straightforward way. Scott brings a very strong 

understanding of constructability issues, construction practices, and building 
materials that ultimately informs the development of successful design 

documents. Scott led the master plan recently completed for the North Marin 
Water District, which explored options for their new headquarters in Novato. 

He also led the Hayward Library & Community Learning Center project, which 
opened in September 2019. 

SCOTT SALGE, AIA, LEED AP 
NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
San Jose-Evergreen Community 
College District Warehouse & 
Operations Facility 

North Marin Water District 
Headquarters Upgrade, Novato

North Coast County Water District

Santa Cruz Live Oak Library Annex

Berkeley YMCA-PG&E Teen Center

Hayward Library & Community 
Learning Center

Cherryland Community Center

South San Francisco Fire Station #63 
Renovation

UC Berkeley Tang Center Renovation

UC Berkeley Career Center  
Tenant Improvements

UC Berkeley Kresge Library, Bechtel 
Engineering Building 

UC Berkeley Haviland Hall Student 
Commons & Library Renovation

George Peabody Elementary School 
Modernization, San Francisco

Daniel Webster Elementary School 
Modernization, San Francisco

Lafayette Elementary School 
Modernization, San Francisco

CALIFORNIA REGISTRATION
Licensed Architect #C30033

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture, Montana 

State University,  
Bozeman, 1998

Bachelor of Arts in Environmental 
Engineering,  

Montana State University,  
Bozeman, 1997

HAYWARD LIBRARY & COMMUNITY 
LEARNING CENTER

NORTH COAST COUNTY WATER DISTRICT NORTH MARIN WATER  
DISTRICT HEADQUARTERS

PRINCIPAL IN CHARGE

45



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  14

Elaine has more than 15 years of experience, five with Noll & Tam. She brings 
a strong background in architectural design for a wide variety of projects, 

including community, cultural, and civic projects. Her experience has ranged 
from working with Silicon Valley tech companies to a master plan for the 

Huntington Beach Library. Most recently, Elaine has worked as Project 
Manager for the Oro Loma Sanitary District Consolidated Faciliites Design, as 
well as the Midpeninsula Regional Open Space District Administrative Office 
Tenant Improvement. She is able to interact with stakeholders in a way that 

brings disparate groups to consensus and moves the project forward. 

ELAINE KROSS
NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
Oro Loma Sanitary District 
Consolidated Facilities Project 

Midpeninsula Regional Open Space 
District Administrative Office TI

Los Altos Community Center 

Age Well Center at South Fremont 

North Berkeley Senior Center 
Renovation

College of Alameda New Center for 
Liberal Arts

Merritt Landscape Horticulture 
Complex

Capitola Library 

San Leandro Mulford Marina Library 

Albina & North Portland Branch 
Libraries, Multnomah County Library, 
Portland, OR (with LEVER) 

Oceanside Library Facilities/Service 
Delivery Study/Needs Assessment 

Huntington Beach Library Master Plan 

Half Moon Bay Library 

Apple ID Studio for Interaction 
Architecture* 

631 Folsom Tower* 

Peddie Addition* 

Herrliberg House*

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture,  

Rice University, 2006

Bachelor of Fine Arts,  
Environmental Design, 

Otis College of Art and Design 1999

CAPITOLA LIBRARYMIDPENINSULA REGIONAL OPEN SPACE 
DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE TI

PROJECT MANAGER

* WITH PREVIOUS FIRM

ORO LOMA SANITARY DISTRICT 
CONSOLIDATED FACILITIES

46



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  15

Jessica Jobe Sea is a licensed architect who has worked on a range  
of projects: from recreation centers to office renovations, and research labs 
to hospitals. Jessica has a passion for sustainable design and community-

based design. She is currently working on the North Marin Water District 
Headquarters Upgrade and also played a key role in the UCSF Health Science 

Instruction & Research (HSIR) Renovation project. This complex project 
required significant management and phased planning, as the work affected 
laboratories on two floors in two different towers. With strong skills in Revit 

BIM software, Jessica is able to smoothly manage projects, while executing the 
specialized design that laboratory spaces require.

JESSICA JOBE SEA
NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
North Marin Water District 
Headquarters Upgrade, Novato

Soquel Creek Water District 2014 
Master Plan Update

Mosswood Recreation Center 
Temporary Facilities, Oakland

San Pablo Community Center

Belle Haven Youth Center Relocation

Age Well Center at South Fremont

Summit Everest & Summit Prep  
Public High School Remodels

Mission Branch Library Remodel,  
Santa Clara

UCSF Health Science Instruction & 
Research (HSIR) Program Seismic 
Retrofit and Interior Renovations

Kaiser Permanente Northern California 
Elevator Modernization Project

Kaiser Permanente Redwood City 
LDRP Labor & Delivery Expansion

Kaiser Permanente Oakland  
LDR Labor & Delivery Expansion

Xilinx Headquarters Building 3 
Renovation, San Jose

CALIFORNIA REGISTRATION
Licensed Architect #C36927

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Architecture,  

University of Arizona, 2010

NORTH MARIN WATER DISTRICT XILINX HEADQUARTERS  
BUILDING 3 RENOVATION

UCSF HEALTH SCIENCE  
INSTRUCTION & RESEARCH

LAB PLANNER

47



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District 

Estimated Hours and Fees Co
nc
ep

t D
es
ig
n 
/ 

Pr
og
ra
m
m
in
g

Sc
he

m
at
ic
 D
es
ig
n

En
tit
le
m
en

t /
 

Pl
an
ni
ng

 / 
CE

Q
A

De
sig

n 
De

ve
lo
pm

en
t

Co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
Do

cu
m
en

ts

Pe
rm

itt
in
g 
/ 

Ap
pr
ov
al
s

Fi
na
l C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n 

Do
cu
m
en

ts

Bi
d 
As
sis
ta
nc
e

Co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
Ad

m
in
ist
ra
tio

n

Pr
oj
ec
t C

lo
se
ou

t /
 

Re
co
rd
 

Do
cu
m
en

ts

Deliverable Percentage 10% 30% 60% 95% 100%

Milestone Duration

Primary Services / Role Name / Specialty Rate / Hour Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Fee

Architectural ‐ Noll & Tam Architects
Principal Scott Salge $260 24 $6,240 40 $10,400 16 $4,160 54 $14,040 54 $14,040 24 $6,240 16 $4,160 24 $6,240 120 $31,200 16 $4,160 388 $100,880

Project Manager Elaine Kross $190 80 $15,200 136 $25,840 40 $7,600 220 $41,800 260 $49,400 54 $10,260 48 $9,120 80 $15,200 480 $91,200 48 $9,120 1,446 $274,740
Lab Planning Jessica Jobe Sea $170 24 $4,080 40 $6,800 $0 60 $10,200 80 $13,600 $0 16 $2,720 $0 64 $10,880 $0 284 $48,280
Designer Eli Mayerson $150 72 $10,800 200 $30,000 20 $3,000 360 $54,000 460 $69,000 36 $5,400 24 $3,600 64 $9,600 480 $72,000 64 $9,600 1,780 $267,000

Interior Designer Nadia Colquiett $160 16 $2,560 60 $9,600 $0 50 $8,000 100 $16,000 $0 16 $2,560 $0 64 $10,240 $0 306 $48,960

Civil ‐ BKF
Principal Brian Scott $288 1 $288 2 $576 1 $288 2 $576 2 $576 1 $288 0 $0 0 $0 2 $576 0 $0 11 $3,168

Associate Principal/Project Manager Jonathan Tang $260 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 12 $3,120 20 $5,200 5 $1,300 2 $520 1 $260 12 $3,120 1 $260 77 $20,020
Senior Project Engineer Jeremiah Pichay $212 8 $1,696 20 $4,240 10 $2,120 24 $5,088 50 $10,600 10 $2,120 4 $848 4 $848 24 $5,088 6 $1,272 160 $33,920

Project Engineer Nikki Holte $186 24 $4,464 40 $7,440 20 $3,720 60 $11,160 100 $18,600 20 $3,720 6 $1,116 16 $2,976 44 $8,184 8 $1,488 338 $62,868

Landscape Architecture ‐ Quadriga
Principal Christine Talbot $205 8 $1,640 8 $1,640 3 $615 8 $1,640 8 $1,640 2 $410 2 $410 2 $410 8 $1,640 2 $410 51 $10,455

Project Manager Sharon DeBell  $150 24 $3,600 32 $4,800 12 $1,800 32 $4,800 32 $4,800 6 $900 8 $1,200 $0 40 $6,000 16 $2,400 202 $30,300

Structural Engineers ‐ IDA
Principal Steven Dejesse $275 8 $2,200 12 $3,300 $0 22 $6,050 20 $5,500 4 $1,100 2 $550 2 $550 20 $5,500 $0 90 $24,750

Project Manager Lucas Riverola $225 20 $4,500 44 $9,900 $0 86 $19,350 100 $22,500 8 $1,800 24 $5,400 16 $3,600 253 $56,925 4 $900 555 $124,875
Structural Designer Amruta Chanabasanavar $160 $0 $0 $0 120 $19,200 88 $14,080 12 $1,920 16 $2,560 $0 $0 $0 236 $37,760

BIM Manager Andy In $145 $0 20 $2,900 $0 40 $5,800 40 $5,800 $0 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 132 $19,140
BIM   Aaron Ho $110 $0 $0 $0 40 $4,400 72 $7,920 8 $880 $0 $0 $0 $0 120 $13,200

Mechancial/Electrical/Plumbing ‐ Guttman & Blaevoet
Mechanical/Principal Gurdaver Singh $325 25 $8,125 20 $6,500 10 $3,250 30 $9,750 20 $6,500 6 $1,950 6 $1,950 4 $1,300 22 $7,150 16 $5,200 159 $51,675
Mechanical/Associate Fatih Turan $270 $0 12 $3,240 12 $3,240 40 $10,800 32 $8,640 16 $4,320 8 $2,160 12 $3,240 32 $8,640 8 $2,160 172 $46,440

Electrical/Associate Principal Mark Brown $310 20 $6,200 24 $7,440 5 $1,550 25 $7,750 15 $4,650 6 $1,860 5 $1,550 5 $1,550 20 $6,200 16 $4,960 141 $43,710
Lighting/Associate Principal Rom Dela Cruz $310 $0 $0 8 $2,480 24 $7,440 24 $7,440 $0 $0 $0 24 $7,440 $0 80 $24,800

Plumbing/Associate Steve Howard $270 27 $7,290 32 $8,640 16 $4,320 100 $27,000 40 $10,800 $0 36 $9,720 $0 60 $16,200 $0 311 $83,970
Mechanical/Engineer II Aashil Randive $205 $0 $0 8 $1,640 50 $10,250 20 $4,100 $0 20 $4,100 $0 30 $6,150 $0 128 $26,240
Electrical/Engineer II Majeed Ahmadzai $205 $0 $0 8 $1,640 60 $12,300 29 $5,945 $0 23 $4,715 $0 35 $7,175 $0 155 $31,775

AV / Telecom / Secirity ‐ SFMI
Principal Engineer Peter McDonald $210 $0 6 $1,260 $0 16 $3,360 16 $3,360 $0 $0 $0 4 $840 $0 42 $8,820
Senior Engineer ‐ AV Theo Hartman, CTS‐D $185 $0 16 $2,960 $0 32 $5,920 40 $7,400 $0 $0 2 $370 26 $4,810 5 $925 121 $22,385

Project Consultant ‐ Acoustical Nick Peters, INCE $170 $0 14 $2,380 $0 44 $7,480 52 $8,840 $0 $0 $0 19 $3,230 $0 129 $21,930
Engineer ‐ Communications Jun Guintu, ECSE $150 $0 $0 $0 40 $6,000 82 $12,300 $0 $0 2 $300 $0 $0 124 $18,600

Project Estimating ‐ TBD Consultants
Principal Sam Evison $250 2 $500 2 $500 0 $0 2 $500 2 $500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 8 $2,000

Project Manager Andy Beyer $225 16 $3,600 16 $3,600 0 $0 20 $4,500 12 $2,700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 64 $14,400
Senior Estimator TBD $225 16 $3,600 24 $5,400 0 $0 28 $6,300 20 $4,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 88 $19,800
MEP Estimator TBD $225 12 $2,700 20 $4,500 0 $0 20 $4,500 16 $3,600 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 68 $15,300

Admin TBD $100 1 $100 1 $100 0 $0 1 $100 1 $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 4 $400

Reimbursable Expenses $3,000 $3,500 $1,500 $3,500 $2,500 $6,000 $5,000 Estimated Expenses $25,000
Primary Services Summary Totals 436 $94,463 849 $169,536 197 $45,003 1,722 $336,674 1,907 $353,131 218 $50,468 290 $65,119 242 $47,604 1,891 $371,548 218 $44,015 7,970 $1,577,561

Totals2 Months 2 Months 3 Months 3 Months 2 Months 1 Month 2 Months 12 Months 2 Months

48

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Text Box
See Revised Fee Schedule dated 12/15/2023.



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

Requested Services / Role Name / Specialty Rate / Hour Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Fee

CEQA Consulting ‐ LSA
Principal Theresa Wallace $302 $0 $0 22 $6,644 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 22 $6,644

Project Manager Shanna Guiler $200 $0 $0 71 $14,200 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 71 $14,200
Assistant Planner TBD $113 $0 $0 124 $14,012 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 124 $14,012
CEQA Specialties Various Disciplines $150 $0 $0 282 $42,300 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 282 $42,300

Grant Funding Support ‐ BKF
Director of Funding Strategies Doug Fleming $198 10 $1,980 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 10 $1,980
Funding Strategies Manager Marley Mueller $181 16 $2,896 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 16 $2,896

Grant Analyst IV Chelsiah Scouras $168 60 $10,080 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 60 $10,080

Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment ‐ Noll & Tam Architects
Principal Jane Catalano $240 2 $480 4 $960 $0 4 $960 4 $960 $0 $0 4 $960 $0 $0 18 $4,320

Furniture Lead Nadia Colquiett $160 4 $640 8 $1,280 $0 24 $3,840 60 $9,600 $0 4 $640 32 $5,120 40 $6,400 $0 172 $27,520

Educational Displays & Signage ‐ Noll & Tam Architects
Project Manager Elaine Kross $240 4 $960 8 $1,920 $0 8 $1,920 16 $3,840 $0 2 $480 $0 $0 $0 38 $9,120

Signage & Interactives N&T Consultant $160 24 $3,840 54 $8,640 $0 48 $7,680 64 $10,240 $0 8 $1,280 $0 24 $3,840 $0 222 $35,520

LEED Certification ‐ Proposed Gold Certification
Principal Scott Salge $260 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 $0 4 $1,040 8 $2,080 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 28 $7,280

Sustainability Lead Ned Reifenstein $220 12 $2,640 16 $3,520 $0 12 $2,640 24 $5,280 $0 $0 $0 24 $5,280 $0 88 $19,360
Project Manager Elaine Kross $190 16 $3,040 16 $3,040 $0 20 $3,800 40 $7,600 $0 8 $1,520 $0 60 $11,400 $0 160 $30,400

Designer Eli Mayerson $150 $0 16 $2,400 $0 16 $2,400 24 $3,600 $0 8 $1,200 $0 48 $7,200 $0 112 $16,800

Geotechnical Engineering  ‐ Miller Pacific
Principal Scott Stephens $290 22 $6,380 6 $1,740 $0 6 $1,740 8 $2,320 $0 $0 4 $1,160 26 $7,540 $0 72 $20,880

Senior Engineer Rusty Arend $220 30 $6,600 4 $880 $0 4 $880 8 $1,760 $0 $0 4 $880 10 $2,200 $0 60 $13,200
Staff Geologist Mike Jewett $170 25 $4,250 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 25 $4,250
Technician TBD $170 10 $1,700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 80 $13,600 $0 90 $15,300

Project Assistant TBD $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 40 $4,000 $0 40 $4,000
Drilling Permit TBD $700 1 $700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $700

Drilling Sub‐Contractor TBD $2,500 1 $2,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $2,500

Permiting / Inspection ‐ WC3
Senior Building Inspector Inspection Team $223 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 300 $66,900 $0 300 $66,900

Inspections Inspection Team $223 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 480 $107,040 $0 480 $107,040

Construction Management ‐ Cumming
Vice President  John Olsson $250 16 $4,000 10 $2,500 $0 15 $3,750 13 $3,250 $0 8 $2,000 8 $2,000 68 $17,850 0 $0 138 $35,350

Sr. Project Manager Hermon Backmon $205 16 $3,280 34 $6,970 $0 218 $44,690 252 $51,660 $0 84 $17,220 84 $17,220 470 $101,168 18 $3,875 1,176 $246,082
Project Manager  TBD $185 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 84 $15,540 84 $15,540 2016 $391,608 168 $32,634 2,352 $455,322

Assistant Project Manager  Sam Wong $155 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 0 $0
Scheduler (blended rate) Vincent Ly $195 3 $585 3 $585 $0 50 $9,750 50 $9,750 $0 $0 34 $6,630 68 $13,923 $0 208 $41,223

Utility & Topography Survey ‐ BKF
Associate Principal BKF Survey Group $260 1 $260 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $260

Senior Project Suveyor TBD $212 11 $2,332 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 11 $2,332
Staff Surveyor TBD $162 40 $6,480 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 40 $6,480

Survey Party Chief TBD $212 20 $4,240 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 20 $4,240
Survey Chainperson TBD $136 20 $2,720 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 20 $2,720

Reimbursable Expenses $2,000 $2,000 $2,500 $2,500 Estimated Expenses $9,000
Requested Services Summary Totals 372 $76,663 187 $38,515 499 $77,156 429 $87,590 571 $114,440 0 $0 206 $39,880 254 $49,510 3,754 $759,949 186 $36,509 6,458 $1,280,211

Requested Services + Reimbursables $1,280,211
Primary Services + Reimbursables $1,577,561

Proposed Project Fee Totals $2,857,772

We strive to provide fees and scope of services appropriate to the project at hand and capture the work as described in the RFP. Given our current understanding of the likely scope, our base fee 
includes substantive efforts for all disciplines to achieve meet your projects needs and deliver a code compliant project for the District. We understand that this fee represents a relatively large 
percentage of your team selection criteria and as always, we are open to discussing our scope assumptions and fees and adjusting them to best meet the District’s needs and remain competitive. 
If any items listed here or in our base fee proposal are an issue for the City, please don’t hesitate to ask for further information.

49

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Text Box
See Revised Fee Schedule dated 12/15/2023.



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

Addendum No. 1
Multipurpose Laboratory Building
September 28, 2023

101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300 • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG

Q32. What is the targeted age range for the education center audience/users?
Response: No specific age range. The intent of the education center is to educate 
the public.

Q33. For exhibit design scope, how many exhibits do you envision? Four (4)? - One (1) for 
each initiative: 1.wastewater collection & treatment processes, 2. recycled water 
production, 3. water conservation, 4.proper item disposal?
Response: The selected consultant shall use their best judgement to determine the 
number of exhibits based on proposed available space. It is the intent for the 
District to include at least one exhibit for: wastewater collection, wastewater
treatment, recycled water production, and other items as outlined in the RFP.

Q34. The reference link provided for the interactive space includes physical object 
interaction paired with digital info/response – do you expect each exhibit to be physical 
digital exhibits?
Response: Proposers shall include in the proposal an allowance to develop both 
options for District review.

Q35. If exhibits include digital experiences/interactivity, what is the scope expectation for 
the specification of digital hardware and software?
Response: See response to Q34.

Q36. If exhibits include digital experience/interactivity, does the scope include creation and 
development of the digital experience/content? If yes, do you have information at this 
time to help quantify the digital content creation and development scope/budget?  Or 
should an allowance be noted for further definition once scope is quantified?
Response: See response to Q34.

Q37. What portion of the overall construction budget is allocated for the education center?
Response: The construction budget provided in the RFP is a preliminary number 
for the entire building and ancillary components. A budget allocation with 
percentage for each major component is not currently available. The selected 
consultant shall be responsible for preparing cost estimates based on the final
design selected by the District.

This addendum consists of forty-nine (49) pages including this page and attachments.
Acknowledge receipt of this addendum by signing in the space provided below. Submit an 
original copy of this addendum cover page along with the proposal.

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District: Proposer: ___Noll & Tam Architects______________

Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer

  _______________________________10/5/2023__

(Authorized Signature) (Date)

ADDENDUM 1 MULTIPURPOSE LABORATORY BUILDING Page 7 of 49
50



729 Heinz Avenue #7   |  Berkeley CA 94710  |  510.542.2200  |  www.nollandtam.com

ARCHITECTS

51



729 Heinz Avenue #7  |  Berkeley CA 94710  |  P: 510.542.2220 F: 510.542.2201  |  scott.salge@nollandtam.com

15 December 2023

Irene Huang, PE 
Associate Engineer
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903

Re: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District RFP for Multipurpose Laboratory Building

Ms. Huang and Members of the Selection Committee: 
Noll & Tam Architects is pleased to be shortlisted for further consideration for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District (LGVSD) Multipurpose Laboratory Building project. As requested, we are providing additional, non-
laboratory building references and a revised fee schedule that excludes construction management and 
inspection services.

The five project references we are providing in this packet supplement the references in our original proposal 
for the North Coast County Water District Headquarters Upgrade, Oro Loma Sanitation District Facilities, and 
North Marin Water District Headquarters Upgrade projects. The additional references—for the Midpeninsula 
Regional Open Space District headquarters renovation in Los Altos, the Marine Mammal Center at the 
Marin Headlands, the Half Moon Bay Library, the Age Well Center at South Fremont, and the Oakland Zoo 
Veterinary Hospital—represent a broader selection of our experience in designing buildings similar in size to 
your Multipurpose Laboratory Building with a mix of technical, administrative, public-facing and educational 
program elements for public agency and special district clients. Several of these projects were built in sensitive 
natural settings, including coastal locations where the impacts of building near saltwater environments are a 
key issue.

Our team is excited to explore ideas for your new Multipurpose Laboratory Building and Education Center. 
Our goal is to design an elegant and efficient facility for your Board, laboratory and community—a long-lived 
facility that also serves as an engaging and interactive education space for students and the general public to 
learn about water conservation, the water treatment process, recycled water production, and more. Our design 
process centers around sustainability, with a particular focus on passive building design that responds to the 
surrounding riparian and bay wetlands environment and wildlife.

We look forward to the opportunity to discuss this project with you in more detail.

Sincerely,

Scott Salge, AIA, LEED AP  
Principal/Secretary

(Authorized to legally bind the firm) 

52

pquinn
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 2Noll & Tam Supplemental Information and Revised Fee Schedule



SUPPLEMENTAL 
REFERENCES

53



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  03

KEY FEATURES

 � INTERACTIVE PUBLIC 
EXHIBITS

 � CA STATE FIRE MARSHAL 
APPROVAL

PROJECT INFORMATION
Role: Full Architectural 
Services, New Construction, 
Renovation
Contact: Jeff Boehm, Chief 
External Relations Officer
Phone: (415) 289-7337
Total Design Cost: $1,800,000
Total Construction Cost: 
$22,000,000
Project Start: August 2002
Project End: November 2005

THE MARINE MAMMAL CENTER

Noll & Tam Architects, in association with Scott Dennis Architect, designed 
new facilities and the adaptive reuse of existing structures, including 
underground missile silos, for the Marine Mammal Center rescue and 
rehabilitation facility, located on a former Nike anti-aircraft missile launch 
site in the Marin Headlands. The Center is a nonprofit research and teaching 
hospital that rehabilitates more than 600 animals annually. The program 
includes a research laboratory, veterinary sciences functions, animal food 
preparation, classroom, interpretive exhibits, retail and administrative spaces 
totaling 18,000 square feet of new construction and 7,000 square feet of 
adaptive-reuse space.

54



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  04

KEY FEATURES

 � FLEXIBLE WORK 
ENVIRONMENT

 � PUBLIC INTERFACE

PROJECT INFORMATION
Role: Full Architectural 
Services, Renovation
Contact: Jason “Jay” Lin, 
Engineering & Construction 
Manager
Phone: (415) 640-1176
Total Design Cost: $2,070,000
Total Construction Cost: 
$21,970,000
Project Start: September 2018
Project End: May 2022
Key Staff: Scott Salge 
(Technical Coordination), 
Elaine Kross (Technical Details, 
Construction Documents 
Phase)

MIDPENINSULA REGIONAL OPEN SPACE DISTRICT 
OFFICE RENOVATION
Noll & Tam designed a renovation of the Midpeninsula Regional Open 
Space District headquarters in Los Altos that created a modern workplace 
reflecting the District’s commitment to the environment and the preservation 
of open space. The design incorporated flexible spaces that balanced open, 
collaborative work areas with areas of privacy and focus. We also created 
a more inviting main entry for the public and outdoor space for employees 
to enjoy, and portioned off a block of interior space for lease to an outside 
tenant.

55



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  05

KEY FEATURES

 � COMMUNITY FACILITY

 � INDOOR-OUTDOOR 
CONNECTION

 � LEED PLATINUM 
CERTIFIED/ZNE

PROJECT INFORMATION
Role: Full Architectural 
Services, New Construction
Contact: Anne-Marie Despain, 
Director of Library Services
Phone: (650) 312-5245
Total Design Cost: $2,370,000
Total Construction Cost:  
$18,900,000
Project Start: August 2015
Project End: June 2018
Key Staff: Scott Salge 
(Concept Planning, Code 
Compliance), Elaine Kross (RFI 
Responses, Submittal Reviews)

HALF MOON BAY LIBRARY
Noll & Tam worked with the City of Half Moon Bay on the design of a new 
22,000 SF library that replaced an existing 7,285 SF facility. The library, 
a regional branch of San Mateo County Libraries, is a hub of community 
activity that caters to all age ranges and diverse user needs. Noll & Tam’s 
design honors the coastal and agricultural roots of the community while 
serving current and future technology needs. The library features daylit 
interior spaces, outdoor reading plazas, acoustically separated areas for teen 
activities, and a flexible makerspace. 

56



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  06

AGE WELL CENTER AT SOUTH FREMONT
This new one-story, 11,000 SF building allows the City of Fremont to expand 
its already popular senior center offerings in a warm and welcoming space 
that is easily navigable and accessible for all. The new location, in the 
diverse area of South Fremont, reaches more of the City’s senior population, 
including groups that may not have previously taken advantage of senior 
programs. The building features a covered entryway, and the interior 
includes flexible rooms for activities and fitness, a robust kitchen to serve 
the center’s lunchroom, staff and administrative spaces, and indoor/outdoor 
flexibility. Each space was completed with furniture selected by Noll & Tam’s 
interior design team.

KEY FEATURES

 � NEW CONSTRUCTION 

 � FLEXIBLE INTEGRATION 

 � COMMUNITY & MIXED-
USE SPACES

PROJECT INFORMATION
Role: Full Architectural 
Services, New Construction
Contact: Aisha Jasper, Senior 
Center Manager
Phone: (510) 790-6606
Total Design Cost: $586,000 
(Architecture and Structural 
Engineering Fees Only)
Total Construction Cost: 
$10,000,000
Project Start: September 2015
Project End: September 2021
Key Staff: Elaine Kross 
(Job Captain for Design 
Development), Jessica 
Jobe Sea (Revit Model & 
Construction Documents)

57



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  07

KEY FEATURES

 � CAL/OSHA APPROVALS

 � ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH & SAFETY 
COORDINATION 

 � LEED GOLD CERTIFIED

PROJECT INFORMATION
Role: Full Architectural 
Services, New Construction
Contact: Dr. Alex Herman, 
Vice President of Veterinary 
Services
Phone: (510) 746-7164
Total Design Cost: $648,000 
(Architecture Fees Only)
Total Construction Cost: 
$7,000,000
Project Start: May 2006
Project End: December 2012

OAKLAND ZOO VETERINARY HOSPITAL

Noll & Tam Architects created a 17,000 SF design to replace the Zoo’s 
1960s-era veterinary hospital with a facility to accommodate state-of-the-
art technology and increased capacity. The new facility expanded the Zoo’s 
animal care, research, and training programs, and was the first LEED certified 
facility of its kind in California.

The two-story building incorporates 14 holding spaces for animals ranging 
in size from small reptiles to large carnivores, as well as an aviary; food 
preparation facilities; X-ray, surgery, and medical support spaces; laboratory 
spaces; and veterinary staff offices. 

58



REVISED 
FEE SCHEDULE

59



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  09

Las Gallinas Valley
Sanitary District 

Estimated Hours and Fees Co
nc

ep
t D

es
ig

n 
/ 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
in

g

Sc
he

m
at

ic
 D

es
ig

n

En
tit

le
m

en
t /

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 / 

CE
Q

A

De
sig

n 
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Do
cu

m
en

ts

Pe
rm

itt
in

g 
/ 

Ap
pr

ov
al

s

Fi
na

l C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Do

cu
m

en
ts

Bi
d 

As
sis

ta
nc

e

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n

Pr
oj

ec
t C

lo
se

ou
t /

 
Re

co
rd

 
Do

cu
m

en
ts

Deliverable Percentage 10% 30% 60% 95% 100%

Milestone Duration

Primary Services / Role Name / Specialty Rate / Hour Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Fee

Architectural - Noll & Tam Architects
Principal Scott Salge $260 24 $6,240 40 $10,400 16 $4,160 54 $14,040 54 $14,040 24 $6,240 16 $4,160 24 $6,240 120 $31,200 16 $4,160 388 $100,880

Project Manager Elaine Kross $190 80 $15,200 136 $25,840 40 $7,600 220 $41,800 260 $49,400 54 $10,260 48 $9,120 80 $15,200 480 $91,200 48 $9,120 1,446 $274,740
Lab Planning Jessica Jobe Sea $170 24 $4,080 40 $6,800 $0 60 $10,200 80 $13,600 $0 16 $2,720 $0 64 $10,880 $0 284 $48,280

Designer Eli Mayerson $150 72 $10,800 200 $30,000 20 $3,000 360 $54,000 460 $69,000 36 $5,400 24 $3,600 64 $9,600 480 $72,000 64 $9,600 1,780 $267,000
Interior Designer Nadia Colquiett $160 16 $2,560 60 $9,600 $0 50 $8,000 100 $16,000 $0 16 $2,560 $0 64 $10,240 $0 306 $48,960

Civil - BKF
Principal Brian Scott $288 1 $288 2 $576 1 $288 2 $576 2 $576 1 $288 0 $0 0 $0 2 $576 0 $0 11 $3,168

Associate Principal/Project Manager Jonathan Tang $260 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 12 $3,120 20 $5,200 5 $1,300 2 $520 1 $260 12 $3,120 1 $260 77 $20,020
Senior Project Engineer Jeremiah Pichay $212 8 $1,696 20 $4,240 10 $2,120 24 $5,088 50 $10,600 10 $2,120 4 $848 4 $848 24 $5,088 6 $1,272 160 $33,920

Project Engineer Nikki Holte $186 24 $4,464 40 $7,440 20 $3,720 60 $11,160 100 $18,600 20 $3,720 6 $1,116 16 $2,976 44 $8,184 8 $1,488 338 $62,868

Landscape Architecture - Quadriga
Principal Christine Talbot $205 8 $1,640 8 $1,640 3 $615 8 $1,640 8 $1,640 2 $410 2 $410 2 $410 8 $1,640 2 $410 51 $10,455

Project Manager Sharon DeBell $150 24 $3,600 32 $4,800 12 $1,800 32 $4,800 32 $4,800 6 $900 8 $1,200 $0 40 $6,000 16 $2,400 202 $30,300

Structural Engineers - IDA
Principal Steven Dejesse $275 8 $2,200 12 $3,300 $0 22 $6,050 20 $5,500 4 $1,100 2 $550 2 $550 20 $5,500 $0 90 $24,750

Project Manager Lucas Riverola $225 20 $4,500 44 $9,900 $0 86 $19,350 100 $22,500 8 $1,800 24 $5,400 16 $3,600 253 $56,925 4 $900 555 $124,875
Structural Designer Amruta Chanabasanavar $160 $0 $0 $0 120 $19,200 88 $14,080 12 $1,920 16 $2,560 $0 $0 $0 236 $37,760

BIM Manager Andy In $145 $0 20 $2,900 $0 40 $5,800 40 $5,800 $0 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 8 $1,160 132 $19,140
BIM  Aaron Ho $110 $0 $0 $0 40 $4,400 72 $7,920 8 $880 $0 $0 $0 $0 120 $13,200

Mechancial/Electrical/Plumbing - Guttman & Blaevoet
Mechanical/Principal Gurdaver Singh $325 25 $8,125 20 $6,500 10 $3,250 30 $9,750 20 $6,500 6 $1,950 6 $1,950 4 $1,300 22 $7,150 16 $5,200 159 $51,675
Mechanical/Associate Fatih Turan $270 $0 12 $3,240 12 $3,240 40 $10,800 32 $8,640 16 $4,320 8 $2,160 12 $3,240 32 $8,640 8 $2,160 172 $46,440

Electrical/Associate Principal Mark Brown $310 20 $6,200 24 $7,440 5 $1,550 25 $7,750 15 $4,650 6 $1,860 5 $1,550 5 $1,550 20 $6,200 16 $4,960 141 $43,710
Lighting/Associate Principal Rom Dela Cruz $310 $0 $0 8 $2,480 24 $7,440 24 $7,440 $0 $0 $0 24 $7,440 $0 80 $24,800

Plumbing/Associate Steve Howard $270 27 $7,290 32 $8,640 16 $4,320 100 $27,000 40 $10,800 $0 36 $9,720 $0 60 $16,200 $0 311 $83,970
Mechanical/Engineer II Aashil Randive $205 $0 $0 8 $1,640 50 $10,250 20 $4,100 $0 20 $4,100 $0 30 $6,150 $0 128 $26,240

Electrical/Engineer II Majeed Ahmadzai $205 $0 $0 8 $1,640 60 $12,300 29 $5,945 $0 23 $4,715 $0 35 $7,175 $0 155 $31,775

AV / Telecom / Secirity - SFMI
Principal Engineer Peter McDonald $210 $0 6 $1,260 $0 16 $3,360 16 $3,360 $0 $0 $0 4 $840 $0 42 $8,820

Senior Engineer - AV Theo Hartman, CTS-D $185 $0 16 $2,960 $0 32 $5,920 40 $7,400 $0 $0 2 $370 26 $4,810 5 $925 121 $22,385
Project Consultant - Acoustical Nick Peters, INCE $170 $0 14 $2,380 $0 44 $7,480 52 $8,840 $0 $0 $0 19 $3,230 $0 129 $21,930

Engineer - Communications Jun Guintu, ECSE $150 $0 $0 $0 40 $6,000 82 $12,300 $0 $0 2 $300 $0 $0 124 $18,600

Project Estimating - TBD Consultants
Principal Sam Evison $250 2 $500 2 $500 0 $0 2 $500 2 $500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 8 $2,000

Project Manager Andy Beyer $225 16 $3,600 16 $3,600 0 $0 20 $4,500 12 $2,700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 64 $14,400
Senior Estimator TBD $225 16 $3,600 24 $5,400 0 $0 28 $6,300 20 $4,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 88 $19,800
MEP Estimator TBD $225 12 $2,700 20 $4,500 0 $0 20 $4,500 16 $3,600 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 68 $15,300

Admin TBD $100 1 $100 1 $100 0 $0 1 $100 1 $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 4 $400

Reimbursable Expenses $3,000 $3,500 $1,500 $3,500 $2,500 $6,000 $5,000 Estimated Expenses $25,000
Primary Services Summary Totals 436 $94,463 849 $169,536 197 $45,003 1,722 $336,674 1,907 $353,131 218 $50,468 290 $65,119 242 $47,604 1,891 $371,548 218 $44,015 7,970 $1,577,561

Totals2 Months 2 Months 3 Months 3 Months 2 Months 1 Month 2 Months 12 Months 2 Months

60



 NOLL & TAM ARCHITECTS   LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT  10

Las Gallinas Valley
Sanitary District 

Estimated Hours and Fees Co
nc

ep
t D

es
ig

n 
/ 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
in

g

Sc
he

m
at

ic
 D

es
ig

n

En
tit

le
m

en
t /

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 / 

CE
Q

A

De
sig

n 
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Do
cu

m
en

ts

Pe
rm

itt
in

g 
/ 

Ap
pr

ov
al

s

Fi
na

l C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Do

cu
m

en
ts

Bi
d 

As
sis

ta
nc

e

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tio

n

Pr
oj

ec
t C

lo
se

ou
t /

 
Re

co
rd

 
Do

cu
m

en
ts

Deliverable Percentage 10% 30% 60% 95% 100%

Milestone Duration Totals2 Months 2 Months 3 Months 3 Months 2 Months 1 Month 2 Months 12 Months 2 Months

Requested Services / Role Name / Specialty Rate / Hour Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Subtotals Hours Fee

CEQA Consulting - LSA
Principal Theresa Wallace $302 $0 $0 22 $6,644 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 22 $6,644

Project Manager Shanna Guiler $200 $0 $0 71 $14,200 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 71 $14,200
Assistant Planner TBD $113 $0 $0 124 $14,012 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 124 $14,012
CEQA Specialties Various Disciplines $150 $0 $0 282 $42,300 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 282 $42,300

Grant Funding Support - BKF
Director of Funding Strategies Doug Fleming $198 10 $1,980 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 10 $1,980
Funding Strategies Manager Marley Mueller $181 16 $2,896 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 16 $2,896

Grant Analyst IV Chelsiah Scouras $168 60 $10,080 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 60 $10,080

Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment - Noll & Tam Architects
Principal Jane Catalano $240 2 $480 4 $960 $0 4 $960 4 $960 $0 $0 4 $960 $0 $0 18 $4,320

Furniture Lead Nadia Colquiett $160 4 $640 8 $1,280 $0 24 $3,840 60 $9,600 $0 4 $640 32 $5,120 40 $6,400 $0 172 $27,520

Educational Displays & Signage - Noll & Tam Architects
Project Manager Elaine Kross $240 4 $960 8 $1,920 $0 8 $1,920 16 $3,840 $0 2 $480 $0 $0 $0 38 $9,120

Signage & Interactives N&T Consultant $160 24 $3,840 54 $8,640 $0 48 $7,680 64 $10,240 $0 8 $1,280 $0 24 $3,840 $0 222 $35,520

LEED Certification - Proposed Gold Certification
Principal Scott Salge $260 8 $2,080 8 $2,080 $0 4 $1,040 8 $2,080 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 28 $7,280

Sustainability Lead Ned Reifenstein $220 12 $2,640 16 $3,520 $0 12 $2,640 24 $5,280 $0 $0 $0 24 $5,280 $0 88 $19,360
Project Manager Elaine Kross $190 16 $3,040 16 $3,040 $0 20 $3,800 40 $7,600 $0 8 $1,520 $0 60 $11,400 $0 160 $30,400

Designer Eli Mayerson $150 $0 16 $2,400 $0 16 $2,400 24 $3,600 $0 8 $1,200 $0 48 $7,200 $0 112 $16,800

Geotechnical Engineering  - Miller Pacific
Principal Scott Stephens $290 22 $6,380 6 $1,740 $0 6 $1,740 8 $2,320 $0 $0 4 $1,160 26 $7,540 $0 72 $20,880

Senior Engineer Rusty Arend $220 30 $6,600 4 $880 $0 4 $880 8 $1,760 $0 $0 4 $880 10 $2,200 $0 60 $13,200
Staff Geologist Mike Jewett $170 25 $4,250 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 25 $4,250

Technician TBD $170 10 $1,700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 80 $13,600 $0 90 $15,300
Project Assistant TBD $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 40 $4,000 $0 40 $4,000

Drilling Permit TBD $700 1 $700 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $700
Drilling Sub-Contractor TBD $2,500 1 $2,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $2,500

Utility & Topography Survey - BKF
Associate Principal BKF Survey Group $260 1 $260 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 1 $260

Senior Project Suveyor TBD $212 11 $2,332 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 11 $2,332
Staff Surveyor TBD $162 40 $6,480 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 40 $6,480

Survey Party Chief TBD $212 20 $4,240 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 20 $4,240
Survey Chainperson TBD $136 20 $2,720 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 20 $2,720

Reimbursable Expenses $2,000 $2,000 $2,500 $2,500 Estimated Expenses $9,000
Requested Services Summary Totals 337 $68,798 140 $28,460 499 $77,156 146 $29,400 256 $49,780 0 $0 30 $5,120 44 $8,120 352 $61,460 0 $0 1,804 $328,294

Requested Services + Reimbursables $328,294
Primary Services + Reimbursables $1,577,561

Proposed Project Fee Totals $1,905,855

61



 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
MULTIPURPOSE LABORATORY BUILDING  
(JOB NO. 24600-01) 
 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) is located in the Las Gallinas Valley of Marin 
County, California between central San Rafael and Novato. It was established in April 1954 
under the Sanitary District Act of 1923 and provides wastewater collection, treatment and 
recycling to more than 30,000 customers in the Santa Venetia, Terra Linda, San Rafael 
Meadows, Marinwood, Lucas Valley, and other communities of San Rafael. The District’s 
jurisdiction spans approximately 50 square miles from Hamilton Field (a former air force 
base) to the north, San Pablo Bay to the east, central San Rafael to the south, and Marin 
County Open Space Reserves to the west. 
 
In July 2023, the District Board authorized staff to proceed with the design of a 
Multipurpose Laboratory Building (Project) for FY 2023-2024 to replace the existing lab 
installed in 2000. 
 
2.0 OBJECTIVE 

 
The Project shall consist of three major components: 
 
I. First Floor – Laboratory 
 
At a minimum, the laboratory work area shall comply with the requirements for ventilation 
rates, temperature control, pressurization, compartment isolation, flume hoods, ducting, 
exhaust, etc., as outlined in one or more of the following: 

1) California Building Code 
2) California Mechanical Code 
3) California Fire Code 
4) CalOSHA 
5) California Code of Regulations (CCR) Titles 8 and 24, as applicable for earthquake 

restraints, anchoring, illumination, and chemical storage. 
6) National Fire Prevention Association (NFPA) 45, Standards on Fire Protection for 

Laboratories 
7) Local, State, and Federal codes and regulations, as applicable. 

 
The District is certified under the California State Environmental Laboratory Accreditation 
Program (ELAP) and performs the required compliance analyses using applicable Standard 
Methods (SM) for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. The proposed lab shall be 
designed to provide an environment to perform the analyses and generate reports 
consistent with State requirements. See Exhibit 1 for a copy of the District ELAP Certificate 
#2407 showing Fields of Accreditation and corresponding SM test methods. 
 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 2 of 10262

pquinn
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 3LGVSD Request for Proposals



 

In addition, the lab shall be designed to accommodate the following existing laboratory 
equipment with flexibility for future expansion, as may be required by more stringent 
regulations: 

1) Refrigerators (1 large and 1 small) 
2) BOD Incubator 
3) Analytical Scale Table 
4) Microscope Desk 
5) Centrifuge 
6) Drying Oven 
7) Furnace  
8) Autoclave 
9) Coliform Incubator 
10) Enterococcus Incubator (Countertop) 

 
II. Second Floor – Education Center with Dual-Purpose Classroom and Boardroom 
 
The District anticipates sponsoring public outreach programs by providing an interactive 
environment with hands-on learning opportunities for students and other interested 
parties. In addition, the District wishes to integrate a Boardroom that can be used as a 
classroom on the same floor. At a minimum, the second floor shall incorporate the 
following: 

1. Education Center – An interactive center highlighting wastewater collection system 
and treatment processes, recycled water production, water conservation, and 
proper disposal of items such as sanitary wipes and expired medicines. See link for 
sample level of expectation for this feature: 
https://www.experienceolympia.com/directory/wet-science-center-lott/.  

2. Boardroom – An adequately sized room incorporating the latest information 
technology (IT) infrastructure with proper acoustics and lighting to conduct public 
Board meetings, which are currently being held at an office outside of the treatment 
plant. 

3. Classroom – The District will utilize the Boardroom to hold regular full staff 
meetings, training sessions, and safety classes.  

 
III. Parking Lot  
 
The project shall include a dual-purpose parking lot to serve the public during Board 
meeting days, weekends, and holidays; however, it shall be limited to staff parking during 
weekdays. The parking lot shall incorporate solar canopies where feasible. Per City of San 
Rafael Ordinance, the parking lot shall feature designated parking for clean air vehicles. 
The Project shall include the design of Electric Vehicle (EV) charging stations.  
 

3.0 DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
The Consultant shall discuss an approach to the following design considerations in their 
proposal: 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 3 of 10263

https://www.experienceolympia.com/directory/wet-science-center-lott/


 

 
1. ADA Compliance: This RFP aims to secure a consultant to scope and design a cost-

effective, functional, fully integrated, safe, secure, and ADA accessible building and 
parking lot. 

 
2. City of San Rafael Planning Department Permits: The District anticipates the 

need of obtaining entitlements (Environmental and Design Review Permit approval 
by the Planning Commission) and complying with similar requirements by other 
City agencies with jurisdiction, such as the Fire Department and Building 
Department. 

 
3. CEQA: The Project site is adjacent to Miller Creek and within BCDC and County of 

Marin jurisdictional set-back lines. However, it is located within the treatment plant 
boundaries, and not jurisdictional under the Clean Water Act. It is anticipated that 
the District would not be required to obtain any permit authorizations from the 
Army Corps of Engineers, BCDC, and County of Marin; however, it is anticipated that 
the Project would require biological investigation and appropriate CEQA 
environmental assessment. 
 

4. Existing Lab: The District anticipates maintaining operational capabilities of the 
existing lab during construction. Consultant shall develop construction phasing and 
sequencing in a manner that contractor activities will not impair lab function. 
 

5. Renewable Energy: The District wishes to adhere to the California Energy 
Commission goal to reduce unnecessary energy consumption in newly constructed 
buildings. In addition to the solar canopies for the Parking Lot, the building shall 
feature rooftop solar panels. This RFP requires integration of renewable energy into 
the existing plant power distribution system including associated PG&E permitting. 
 

6. Sea Level Rise and Storm Surge: Previous consultants hired by the District 
recommended a minimum elevation of EL 18.0 (NAVD 88) for proper treatment 
plant process operation as it relates to future sea level rise and storm surge, which 
is approximately 3 feet higher than the perimeter road adjacent to the existing lab. 
This RFP aims to hire a consultant to develop and implement a cost-effective site-
specific building design criteria to address future sea level rise and storm surge. 

 
7. Site Constraints: The proposed site is constrained by permanent existing 

structures such as an underground chlorine disinfection system consisting of a 60” 
pipe in serpentine configuration, aboveground access manholes, chemical dosing 
points, and concrete outfall structures, all of which shall be protected or supported 
in place during construction. See Exhibit 2 for as-built information. 

 
8. Geotechnical: The general area is underlain with bay mud. The existing lab, built in 

2000, with concrete slab-on-grade foundation constructed over engineered fill, has 
experienced noticeable uneven settlement due to soft bay mud and water saturation 
from Miller Creek. It is anticipated that the new building shall have a foundation 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 4 of 10264



 

supported on piles connected by grade beams. See Exhibit 3 for geotechnical 
information. 

 
9. SF Bay Trail and Las Gallinas Wildlife Ponds: The Project site is bounded by the 

SF Bay Trail and a dedicated parking lot for visitors of the Las Gallinas Wildlife 
Ponds, which has perimeter levees designated as independent segments of the SF 
Bay Trail.  During the public posting phase of the previous Operations Control 
Center project, a group of birdwatchers expressed concerns about visual impacts of 
the building and its potential impacts to the bird population as it relates to glare and 
collisions. The building design shall have features conducive to a warm and 
welcoming environment for visitors of the SF Bay Trail and the Las Gallinas Wildlife 
Ponds. 

 
10. Light Pollution: The District discourages excessive or poor use of artificial outdoor 

light at night and supports public concerns regarding disruption of natural patterns 
of wildlife, human sleep deprivation, or obscuring stars in the night sky as outlined 
in the Dark Sky Initiative of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 

 
11. PG&E Easement: A PG&E easement runs across portions of the existing lab building 

and parking lot.  PG&E has specific vertical and horizontal clearance requirements 
that must be considered during the design of the Project.  

 
12. LEED Certification: To the extent possible, the District wishes to comply with LEED 

and Living Building Challenge (LBC) certifications. Consultant shall provide a 
generalized schedule indicating what such certification would include, along with a 
rough order of magnitude cost analysis that would reflect the general percentage 
increase to construction costs to achieve such certification. 

 
13. Sustainable Green Design: As an option, the District envisions a building that will 

be a showcase for energy and green innovation. 
 

14. Potential Grant and Foundation Funding: In order to reduce financial impacts, 
the District wishes to apply for any available grants to partially fund the Project. 
Proposals should identify grants and funding opportunities that the Project may 
receive. 

 
4.0 CONSTRUCTION BUDGET 
 
The District has allocated a preliminary budget of $10 million for the construction of the 
Project. 
 
5.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 
 
Consultant shall provide services for the following phases of the Project including 
construction management and inspection services.  

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 5 of 10265



 

 
A. Conceptual Design (10% Submittal) – Consultant shall develop a minimum of three 

conceptual (3) design schemes incorporating cost effective approach to the Project 
objectives outlined above, including a budget level cost estimate for District review.  
 
Deliverables: 

1. Technical Memorandum outlining, at a minimum, the design criteria, space 
needs analysis, basis of design, and code compliance requirements. 

2. Three versions of architectural renderings and drawings for the proposed 
building and parking in PDF format.  

3. This phase shall include an initial presentation of the three alternatives to the 
District Ad Hoc Committee, in which the District staff and Ad Hoc Committee 
will select a preferred alternative. 

4. The initial presentation will be followed by a presentation of the chosen 
alternative to the District Board to be scheduled at a future date. Board 
meetings are typically held between 4:30 pm and 7:00 pm on the first and 
third Thursdays of each month. 

5. Miniature architectural building model of the chosen alternative for Board 
presentation.  

 
B. Schematic Design (30% Submittal) – Consultant shall perform site analysis and 

building programming, including initial permit application with the City of San 
Rafael Planning Department.  

 
Deliverables: 

1. Schematic plans.  
2. Completed application to City of San Rafael Planning Department. 
3. Responses to schematic plan review comments from the city.  
4. Presentation to the City of San Rafael Planning Department (Design Review 

Board) to be scheduled at a future date. 
5. Preliminary cost estimates. 
6. CEQA documents. 
7. This phase shall include an allowance for one (1) half-hour bi-weekly virtual 

meeting update with District staff. 
8. This phase shall include an allowance for providing grant writing assistance 

to a District Representative. 
 

C. Design Development (60% Submittal) – Consultant shall define and develop the 
important aspects of the project such as exterior and interior layouts, room sizes, 
and materials, including HVAC, plumbing, and electrical systems.  
 
Deliverables: 

1. Draft Contract Documents 
a. Volume 1 – Contract Requirements 
b. Volume 2 – Bidding Requirements 
c. Volume 3 – Technical Specifications 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 6 of 10266



 

d. Volume 4 – 60% Drawings 
2. Preliminary Cost Estimate. 
3. Responses to other agencies having jurisdiction, including field meetings if 

necessary. 
4. Preliminary Project Schedule in MS Project format. 
5. This phase shall include an allowance for one (1) half-hour bi-weekly virtual 

meeting update with District staff. 
 

D. Construction Documents (95% Submittal) – Consultant shall finalize technical 
information and prepare the final set of drawings and specifications necessary to 
obtain a building permit from City of San Rafael Building Department and advertise 
the Project for public bids. 

 
Deliverables: 

1. Detailed Cost Estimate. 
2. Detailed Project Schedule in MS Project format. 
3. Building Permit 
4. This phase shall include an allowance for one (1) half-hour bi-weekly virtual 

meeting update with District staff. 
5. Final set of Contract Documents for bidding purposes. 

a. Technical specifications shall be prepared utilizing the current 
Construction Specifications Institute (CSI) MasterFormat. 

b. At a minimum, final drawings shall include demolition, electrical, 
mechanical, and other disciplines. 

c. Technical specifications in CSI version provided in PDF and MS Word 
formats. 

 
E. Bidding Phase and Construction Phase Services for design related questions by 

bidders and contractors. This assistance shall include, but not be limited to: 
1. Conduct pre-bid meeting with prospective bidders to answer contractor and 

supplier technical questions. 
2. Respond to contractor and supplier technical questions during bidding, 

maintain a log of bidder questions, and prepare any addenda required. 
3. Provide drawings, modifications, and clarifications during the bidding period. 
4. Attend bid opening and assist in the evaluation of bids. 
5. Prepare final bid summary and report for Board consideration. 
6. Assist District staff in awarding a contract to the apparent low bidder. 

 
F. Construction Management and Inspection Services 

1. Attend pre-construction conference to ensure contractor’s understanding of 
the Project. 

2. Prepare design clarifications to clarify the design intent. 
3. Prepare responses to contractor’s Requests for Information (RFI) and 

Submittals. 
4. Assist the District staff in the analysis of Potential Change Orders. 
5. Assist the District staff in the preparation of Change Orders. 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 7 of 10267



 

6. Assist the District representative in complying with prevailing wage and other 
DIR requirements. 

7. Perform construction inspections. 
8. Prepare O&M manuals and record drawings following construction from 

markups by the contractor.  
9. General: All records (project reports, meeting notes, data files, project data, 

original tracings, maps, field sketches, design calculations, graphic originals, 
electronic files, etc.) generated shall be the property of the District and shall be 
turned over to the District upon completion or as directed. 

 
6.0 PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS AND CONTENTS 

 
The Proposal shall be prepared in accordance with the following.  Material submitted in 
addition to that specifically required will not be reviewed. 

1. General Firm Information: This section shall include the following: 
a. Firm Project References. Submit three (3) references for similar projects, 

including brief project description, current contact name and phone number. 
b. Organizational chart for the consultant team committed to this project. Identify 

subconsultants proposed for the project, if any. 
c. Resumes of key staff for the project. 
d. Hourly Rate  

 
2. Project Understanding and Approach: Demonstrate understanding of key issues 

and your approach to meet the design objectives and complete the Scope of Work 
outlined above. If applicable, include a description of tasks you feel should be added 
to the Scope of Work to better meet the project objective. 
 

3. Maximum Number of Pages: 15 single-sided pages including resumes and list of 
sample projects. Fee schedule may be on a separate 11” x 17” sheet. Cover page, 
cover letter, and fee schedule are exempt from the maximum 10-page limit. 
 

4. Compensation:  Provide a matrix indicating an estimate of hours and fees to 
complete the services. Also, provide separate itemized time and materials fee 
adjustments, where appropriate, for additional tasks you feel should be added. 

7.0 CONSULTANT SELECTION PROCESS 
 

If deemed necessary, the District may invite up to three (3) firms for oral interviews. 
 
The criteria that will be used in evaluating the proposals include, but are not limited to the 
following: 

1. Knowledge and understanding of Project requirements and District needs. 
2. Approach to Project and understanding of the Scope of Work. 
3. Commitment of key personnel and their experience. 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 8 of 10268



 

8.0 TENTATIVE CONSULTANT SELECTION AND OVERALL PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 

1. Request for Proposals Published  August 28, 2023 
2. Pre-proposal Meeting   September 7, 2023 at 11am 

       Location: 300 Smith Ranch Rd, San Rafael 
3. Questions on the RFP no later than: September 28, 2023 
4. Proposal Deadline:    October 5, 2023 at 2:00 PM 
5. Oral Interviews (optional):   Week of October 9, 2023 
6. Award of a Consultant Contract:  November 2, 2023 

Architect Introduction to Board 
7. Design Phase     9 Months (Nov 2023 – Aug 2024) 
8. Bid Phase     3 Months (Aug 2024 – Nov 2024) 
9. Construction Phase    1 Year (Nov 2024 –Nov 2025) 

9.0 STANDARD CONSULTANT AGREEMENT 
 

The Consultant selected to provide the Scope of Services shall use the attached District’s 
standard consultant Agreement (Exhibit 4). By submitting a proposal for this work, the 
Consultant agrees to utilize this form for the contract.  Contractually required insurance 
coverage and endorsement information is shown in the body of the document. 

RFP - MULTIPURPOSE LAB BUILDING Page 9 of 10269

pquinn
Rectangle

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Text Box
See current proposed project schedule in the Agenda Summary Report. 



 

 
 

 

3/7/2024 
 

SOLAR PROJECT UPDATE 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

 Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM  4.1 

70



 

 
 

 

3/7/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4.2 

71



 

 
 

 

3/7/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Other Reports 
 

FORD 
NBWRA, Flood Zone 6, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc 
Committee, McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc 
Committee, CASA TRIG Committee, Other Reports  
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, Engineering Ad 
Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc 
Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense 
Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 5 

72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



                                                                                  AGENDA ITEM 6A 
                                                                                 DATE: March 7, 2024             

REVISED 06012021 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER 

 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

                  YES     NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference:          

 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

95



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\03072024\Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

3/7/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 6B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



 

 
 

 

3/7/2024 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

 Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 

125


	Agenda 03072024
	1 Public Comment
	2A Board minutes 02152024
	2B Draft Warrant List 03072024
	2C Robards Conference request
	2D Yezman Conference request
	2E Call for Bids Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade
	2F Resolution No 2024-2323 GM Contract Amendment
	2G Biosolids Land Application NOC Final
	2H July Board Meeting Schedule Modification
	3 Multipurpose Lab Building Award of Contract
	4.1 Solar Project Update
	4.2 General Manager Report
	5 Board Member Reports
	5.3 Murray Other Reports
	6A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request
	6B Board Agenda Item Requests
	7 Various Industry Articles
	8 Closed Session



